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This is a translation of the Hungarian Report
Independent Auditor’'s Report

To the Shareholder of
Didkhitel Kbzpont Zartkoriien Mikod6 Részvénytdrsasag

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying 2019 individual financial statements of a
Diakhitel Kozpont Zartkérden M(kodé Részvénytdrsasdg (“the Company™), which
comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019 - showing a
balance sheet total of HUF 202,135 million and a total comprehensive loss for the
year of HUF 760 million -, the related statement of comprehensive income,
statement of changes in equity, statement of cash flows for the year then ended and
notes to the individual financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion the individual financial statements give a true and fair view of the
financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2019 and of its financial
performance and its cash flows for the financial year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU (“EU IFRSs").

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Auditor's
responsibilities for the audit of the individual financial statements” section of our
report.

We are independent of the Company in accordance with the applicable International
Ethics Standards Board of Accountants’ (IESBA) International Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (IESBA
Code), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
these requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Other matters
The individual financial statements as at 31 December 2018 were audited by another

auditor who expressed an unmodified opinion on those financial statements on 21
November 2019.
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The Company has prepared the annual financial statements as at 31 December 2019
in accordance with the Hungarian Accounting Law, we have issued a separate
auditors’ report on those annual financial statements to the shareholder of the
Company on 30 March 2020.

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the
individual financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the individual
financial statements in accordance with EU IFRSs and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of individual
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the individual financial statements, management is responsible for
assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s
financial reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the individual financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the individual
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these individual financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing we
exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the
audit. We also:

P Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the individual
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
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Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company'’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the

reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
management.
Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a
material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. if
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the individual
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the individual
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the individual
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our

audit.

Budapest, 17 September 2020

(The original Hungarian language version has been signed.)

Koénya Zsolt
Ernst & Young Kft.
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D IAKH I ‘I:LI Didgkhitel Kozpont Zrt.

Statement of Comprehensive Income for 2019 and 2018

I. Statement of Comprehensive Income

Figures in M HUF

Note 2019 2018
restated
Interest income 8 4 454 6018
Interest expense 8 -3 836 -4 121
Net interest income 618 1897
Insurance premiums earned 9 378 487
Claims paid 10 -133 -164
Other operating income 12 41 46
Movements in insurance technical reserves 27 -157 988
: . . . 747 3 254
Not operating profit before impairment loss on loans
Impairment loss on loans 51.2 1010 -650
Credit loss expense 13 -48 -46
Operating profit (loss), net 1709 2558
Other operating expenses 12 -2 543 -2 510
Pre-tax profit (loss) -834 48
Taxes paid/received 14 74 -6
) -760 42
Profit (loss) for the year
. -760 42
Profit (loss) for the year (attributable to the shareholders)
Profit (loss) for the year -760 42
Other comprehensive income for the period including
-760 42
deferred tax
Comprehensive profit (loss) for the year -760 42
Comprehensive profit (loss) for the year (attributable to the -760 42
shareholders)
DIAKHITEL KOZPONT Zrt.
1027 Budapest, Kacsa u. 15-23.
Budapest, 17 September 2020 Adoszam; 12657331-2-41
1.

dr. Péter Magyar
Chief Executive Officer
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DIAKHI{aL

Didkhitel Kozpont Zrt.

Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018

I1. Statement of Financial Position

Figures in M HUF

Note  31.12.2019 SElecano
restated
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 16 290 478
Student loans 17 199 499 220 325
Insurance premium receivables 17 1047 1345
Current income tax assets 4 S
Other receivables 18 344 353
Other assets 19 4 4
Property, plant and
equipment 20 142 182
Intangible assets 21 337 318
Leases-assets 22 468 0
Total assets 202135 223 010
Liabilities
Amount payable to banks 24 171 239 191 554
Other liabilities 25 399 430
Provisions 51.2 99 258
Bond issued 26 11 281 11 447
Insurance technicai
- 27 3153 2 996
Leases liabilities 30 475 0
Deferred tax liabilities 23 1189 1265
Total liabilities 187 835 207 950
Equity
Issued capital and capital reserve 28 2500 2500
Retained losses 28 1767 2 527
Other reserves 28 10033 10 033
Total equity 14 300 15 060
Equity attributable to the shareholders 14 300 15060
Total equity and liabilities 202 135 223 010
st, 17 September =
Budapest, RIEWIbEr 2020 DIAKHITEL KOZPONT Z1t.
1027 Budapest, Kacsa u. 15-23.
Adoszam:; 12657331-2-41 W
1. %
dr. Péter Magyar
Chief Executive Officer
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DIAKHI{>L

Didkhitel Kbzpont Zrt.
Statement of Cash Flows for 2019 and 2018

IV. Statement of Cash Flows
Figures in M HUF
Note 31.12.2019 31.12.2018
Operating cash flow
Pre-tax profit (loss) -834 438
Adjustments:
Amortisation of intangible assets, of tangible assets

and of leases assets 12 276 129

Gains/losses on the disposal of tangible/intangible

assets 12 -1 0

Impairment loss on financial assets 51.2 -1 010 650

Net gains/(losses) on derecognition of financial

assets measured at amortised cost 13 48 46

Damages paid 10 133 164
Interest income, net 8 -618 -1 897
Movements in insurance technical reserves 26 157 -088
Corporate tax received 14 74 -6
Student loans disbursed -14 858 13717
Student loans repaid 27 891 26 953
Receivable assignment income 9250 0
Interest received 3724 4 959
Interest paid -3 240 -3622
Movements in insurance premium receivable 240 336
Movements in other assets 10 -162
Movements in other liabilities -107 -151
Operating cash flows, net 21 969 12 694
Investing cash flows
Tangible assets acquisitions -36 -11
Tangible assets disposals 12 0
Intangible assets acquisitions -127 -211
Investing cash flows, net -151 -222
Financing cash flows
Repayment of bonds issued 0 -19 500
Amounts borrowed from banks 69 156 30 285
Repayment of amounts borrowed from banks -90 221 -23 056
Repayment of leases liabilities 107 0
Financing cash flows, net -21 172 -12 271
Net changes in cash and cash equivalents 188 249
Cash and cash equivalents as of 1 January 14 478 229
Cash and cash equivalents as of 31 December 14 290 478

JAKHITEL KOZPONT 21t
%“dapest‘ Kacsa u. 15-23.
Budapest, 17 September 2020 doszam: 1?_1657331-241

dr. Péter Magyar
Chief Executive Officer
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D IAKH I 'I: Ll Didkhitel Kozpont Zrt.

Notes to the Financial Statements
Data in HUF million

V. Notes to the Individual Financial Statements

1. Brief introduction of the Company

Didkhitel Koézpont Zrt. (hereinafter referred to as: “Company” or “Diakhitel Koézpont™) is a
company limited by shares and registered in Hungary at 1027 Budapest, Kacsa utca 15-23.

The shares of Didkhitel K6zpont Zrt. are held by the Hungarian State.

Since 17 June 2010 the shareholder rights over the Company have been exercised by the Hungarian
Development Bank (MFB) based on Act LII of 2010 on the amendment of acts required for the
responsible management of state-owned assets and on the stipulation of certain legal provisions.

On 20 October 2014 the MFB, exercising the ownership rights, declared in the approval of the
amended statutes of Didkhitel Kozpont Zrt. that the executive body of the Company is the Board
of Directors, while the operative management of the Company’s business activity and organisation
shall be carried out by the Chief Executive Officer as general manager. The Supervisory Board
oversees the operation of Didkhitel Kézpont Zrt., and it also carries out the tasks of the Audit
Committee.

Diakhitel Kézpont Zrt. operates the student loan system as well as disbursing and recording student
loans. In accordance with the provisions of Government Decree 1/2012 (1.20) on the student loan
scheme, the Student Loan organisation may use its state-guaranteed funds exclusively for the
disbursement of student loans, to fulfil its payment obligations incurred on securities issued with a
state guarantee and other state-guaranteed financing, to cover its operating costs, and to fulfil its
payment obligations incurred on issued securities and other funding.

The State of Hungary shall undertake a guarantee for payment obligations of Diakhitel Kdzpont
Zrt. incurred on account of loans drawn and bonds issued in and outside Hungary in order to finance
the student loan scheme.

A joint and several state guarantee on used funds is ensured by the following laws:
Section 53 of Act L 0of 2018 on the Central Budget of Hungary for 2019.

Section 52 of Act LXXI 0f 2019 on the Central Budget of Hungary for 2020.

The Company has no interests in subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures.

Section 9/A (2) of Act C of 2000 on Accounting governs which business entities have to prepare
their annual financial statements in line with IFRS standards.
Pursuant to the above section, the Company is not obliged to compile IFRS financial statements.

The Company compiled separate financial statements on 30 March 2020 with a reporting date of
31 December 2019 in accordance with the Hungarian Act on Accounting, which was published in
accordance with Act C of 2000 on Accounting.

12/80



DIAKHI{{5L

Didkhitel Kozpont Zrt.
Notes to the Financial Statements
Data in HUF million

2. Basis of preparation

2.1. Statement of compliance

The accompanying individual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the EU. New IFRSs and
interpretations not applied when preparing the financial statements are presented in Note 3.33.3

These financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 17 September
2020.

2.2. Basis of measurement

At initial recognition, assets and liabilities are presented at cost, except for some financial
instruments that shall be presented at fair value.

Except for the items listed below, the financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost
basis:

e derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value;
financial instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value;
other financial instruments are measured at amortised cost.

2.3. Functional and presentation currency

The functional and presentation currency of Diakhitel Kézpont Zrt. is the Hungarian forint. Data
in the financial statements are presented in HUF million.

2.4. Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires management to make
professional judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the accounting policies applied as
well as the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. These estimates and the
underlying assumptions are based on past experience and on various other factors which are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, and the results of which form the basis for
estimating the fair values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
Actual results may differ from these estimates. Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period of the revision
if the revision affects only the given year, or in the period of the revision and in subsequent periods,
if the revision affects both the current and subsequent years.

The Company used estimates with respect to the following:
e Going concern principle

The Company’s management has assessed the Company’s ability to continue its activity, and
has determined, that the Company has the necessary resources to operate in the foreseeable
future. Furthermore, the Company’s management is not aware of any material uncertainties that
would cast significant doubt on its ability to continue its operations. In assessing the going
concern principle, the Company has taken into account the suretyship provided by the State for
the funds raised by Company.

13/80



D I AKH I 'I= Ll Didkhitel Kozpont Zrt.

Notes to the Financial Statements
Data in HUF million

e Fair value measurement of financial assets and liabilities

If the fair value of financial assets and liabilities is not measured based on a quoted price in an
active market, a valuation model shall be used. Determination of the fair value of financial
instruments is presented in Note 7.

e Impairment of assets

Accounting principles relating to the impairment of assets are detailed in Note 4.14, while
impairment booked is presented in Chapter 5.1.2.

e Technical provisions

The accounting principles of the estimates used by the Company are detailed in Note 4.5, while
the amounts of estimates relating to the actuarial model are presented in Note 5.1.3.

o Provisions

The principles underlying the estimates used by the Company are included in Note 4.15.
Supplementary notes relating to the actuarial model in connection with the credit risk inherent
in the loan commitments of the student loan transactions are detailed in Note 5.1.2.

2.5. Reclassifications and errors
The Company has restated its Financial Statements for 2018.

The following changes have been made and presented in the Financial Statement for 2018:

e Deferred tax in amount of HUF 641 million was reclassified due to the implementation of
IFRS 9 as of January 1, 2018 from Net result for 2018 to a new separated opening balance
line called ‘Impact of the introduction of IFRS 9 on equity’.

e The impairment for 2018 was adjusted by HUF 872 million, where the related deferred tax
difference is HUF 78 million.

In the restated statement of comprehensive income, impairment increased by HUF 872 million,
while tax expense decreased by HUF 719 million. As a result, net result for 2018 has decreased
by 153 million.

In the restated statement of equity changes, HUF 641 million was reclassified between equity
and Net result for 2018 and Net result for 2018 was restated due to the introduction of IFRS 9.
In the restated Financial Position, the value of Student loans, insurance premium receivable,
deferred tax liabilities and retained earnings have changes.

In the Cash Flow Statements, restatements made for 2018 has affected Profit Before Tax, tax
expenses, impairment recognised for financial assets, provision and other liabilities. The
balance of waived receivables has been restated because of the expense incurred in relation to
damage and the loss from derecognition of assets measured at amortised cost is presented
separately, at a new Cash Flow line.

In the restated Notes, the Company has provided a “restated” label to that data, which has
changed compared to the Financial Statements previously published for 2018.

14/80
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Didkhitel Kozpont Zrt.
Notes to the Financial Statements
Data in HUF million

3. Changes in accounting policies

3.1. Standards and interpretations effective from 1 January 2019

As of 1 January 2019, the following standards and amendments to existing standards and
interpretations, issued by the IASB and adopted by the EU, became effective:

3.1.1. Standards and interpretations effective from 1 January 2019 that resulted in
changes in the accounting policy of the Company

e IFRS 16 Leases

[FRS 16 introduces a single model for lessee accounting, under which the lessee recognizes right-
of-use assets as well as future lease payment obligations - a lease liability. The lessee shall present
the interest expense on the lease liability and the depreciation charge for the right-of-use asset
separately. In addition, the lessee shall reassess the presented lease liability in the event of certain
events (such as changes in the lease term, changes in indices determining the future lease payments
or changes in interest rates). The lessee recognises the amount of the revaluation of the lease
liability as a change in the value of the right-of-use asset. The standard sets out recognition
exceptions for short-term leases and leases for which the underlying asset is deemed insignificant.
The lessor is accounted for in accordance with the requirements of the current standard, so lessors
should continue to classify leases as finance or operating leases.

IFRS 16 replaces the previous regulations on leases as IAS 17 Leases and IFRIC 4 Determining
Whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease, Guidelines in SIC 15 Operating Leases - Incentives
and SIC-27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions in the Legal Form of a Lease determine if a
contract contains a lease. IFRS 16 also sets out broader disclosure requirements than IAS 17 did.

The company as lessee

The Company recognises new assets and liabilities for its transactions previously classified as
operating leases. Previously, operating lease payments were recognised in profit or loss on a linear
basis over the lease term. The nature of the costs associated with these leases will change as a result
of the transition to IFRS 16, as the Company presents depreciation expense on the right-of-use
assets and interest expense on the lease liabilities.

The non-leasing components of the contracts are separated, and these components continue to be
recognised by the company as an expense when they incur for the Company’s all asset categories.

In accordance with the exemptions permitted by the standard, the Company had decided not to
apply the requirements of the standard to short term leases (term <12 months) and to leases where
the underlying asset is insignificant in value (<EUR 5.000).

The Company as lessor

The company does not have any leasing transactions as a lessor, therefore the transition to IFRS
16 has no impact in this respect.

Transition
The Company adopted IFRS 16 on 1 January 2019 and has opted for the modified retrospective

application method, i.e. it presents the cumulative effect of the first application of the standard as
an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings at the date of the first application.
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The Company made the following decisions in connection with the transition to IFRS 16:

At the date of first application, the Company reassesses whether the contract is a lease or
contains a lease under IFRS 16.

For leases previously classified as operating leases in accordance with [AS 17, the right-
of-use asset recognised at the date of first application is measured at the same amount as
the lease liability, adjusted for prepaid or deferred lease payments recognised in the
statement of financial position immediately before the date of first application.

The Company applies the simplifications for short-term leases, permitted by the standard.
As of the adoption date of 1 January 2019, the remaining duration for each asset group is
less than one year for those assets affected by the simplifications.

At the date of first application, the Company does not take initial direct costs into account
in the valuation of right-of-use assets.

The essential elements of the accounting policy are included in paragraphs 4.9.3 and 4.13

The financial impact of the transition is presented in Section 3.4, Transition Disclosure.

3.1.2.  Standards and interpretations effective from 1 January 2019 that do not result
in a change in the Company’s accounting policies.

Amendments to IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” — Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation - adopted by the EU on 22 March 2018.

Amendments to IAS 19 “Employee Benefits” -Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement — Adopted by the EU on 13 March 2019.

Amendments to IAS 28 “Long-term interests in Associates and Joint Ventures” -Long-
Term Interests in Associates and joint Ventures — adopted by the EU on 8 February 2019.
Amendments to certain standards — “Improvements to IFRSs (2015-2017)” — As a
result of the IFRS Development Project, amendments were made to certain standards (IFRS
3, IFRS 11, IAS 12 and IAS 23), primarily to eliminate inconsistencies and clarify
explanations — adopted by EU on 14 March 2019

IFRIC 23 “Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments”- adopted by EU on 23 October
2018.

3.2. Early application of new standards

The Company did not take the opportunity of early application of the new standards in its 2019
annual Financial Statements. It plans to adopt them when they will become effective.

3.3. New IFRS standards and interpretations not yet adopted

A number of new standards and amendments to standards and interpretations are not yet effective
for the year ended 31. December 2019, and have not been applied in preparing these financial
statements.
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New and amended standards and interpretations issued by IASB and adopted by the EU that
are not yet effective:

e Interest rate benchmark reference reform — Amendments to IFRS 9, IFRS 39 and IFRS 7

(issued on 26 September 2019, effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2020)

Standards and interpretations issued by the IASB and not yet endorsed by the EU:

e IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts In May 2017, the standard was prepared with the aim of
establishing consistent, principle-based accounting rules for insurance contracts - it provides
that the valuation of insurance liabilities is based on the so-called current fulfilment value
and requires a more uniform valuation and presentation procedure for all insurance contracts.
IFRS 17 replaces IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts and its related interpretations. It is applicable
to periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021. Early application is permitted if the entity
already applies IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers and IFRS 9 Financial
Instruments.

o IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts (issued in January 2014, based on a decision of the
European Commission, the transitional standard will not be adopted, and the EC currently
waits for the final version of the standard).

e  Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 — Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor
and its Associate or Joint Venture (issued on 11 September 2014 and the date of effectiveness
is to be determined by [ASB).

¢ Amendments to the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting (issued on 29
March 2018, effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020).

e  Amendments to IFRS 3- Definition of a Business (issued on 22 October 2018, effective for
acquisitions after 1 January 2020).

e Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 — Definition of Material (issued: 31 October 2018,
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020).

¢ Amendments to IAS 1 — Classification of liabilities as Current or Non-current (issued: 23
January 2020, effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022).

The Company believes that the adoption of these standards and amendments to existing standards
will not have a material impact on the Financial Statements of the Company in the period of initial
application.

3.4 Transition Disclosure

The effects of the initial application of IFRS 16 on statutory Financial Statements are presented
below.

With the introduction of IFRS 16 Leasing standard, the Company recognized a right-of-use asset
in the amount of HUF 535 million in connection with the lease of an office building, while the
book value of lease liabilities increased by HUF 535 million as of 1 January 2019.

17/80



DIAKHIEL

Didkhitel Kozpont Zrt.
Notes to the Financial Statements
Data in HUF million

Statement of Financial Position Figures in M HUF

CERNEEDHE Valuation 01.01.2019
restated

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 478 0 478
Student loans 220 325 0 220 325
Insurance premium receivables 1345 0 1345
Current income tax assets 5 5
Other receivables 353 0 353
Other assets 4 0 4
Property, plant and equipment 182 0 182
Intangible assets 318 0 318
Leases-assets 0 535 535
Total assets: 223 010 535 223 545
Liabilities
Amount payable to banks 191 554 0 191 554
Other liabilities 430 0 430
Provision 258 0 258
Bond issued 11 447 0 11 447
Leases liabilities 0 535 535
Insurance technical reserves 2 996 0 2 996
Deferred tax liabilities 1265 0 1265
Total liabilities: 207 950 535 208 485
Equity
Issued equity and capital reserve 2 500 0 2 500
Retained losses 2527 0 2527
Other reserves 10 033 0 10 033
Total equity 15 060 0 15 060

The following table shows the effect of the first application of IFRS 16, based on the future
minimum lease payments presented in IAS 17 in the previous year.

Lease liabilities
Future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable

operating leases at 31 December 2018 * 670
Future lease payments due to different treatment of

renewal and termination -134
Short - term leasing transactions or lower value leasing

transactions not presented as liabilities -1
Lease obligation on 1 January 2019 535
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4. Summary of material accounting policies

Significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of the financial statements are presented
below. The accounting policies were applied consistently for the periods covered by these financial
statements.

4.1. Accounting for student loan products

The student loan contracts provided by the Company comprise a loan component and an insurance
component. The insurance component exists because the entire debt is forgiven in accordance with
Section 19 (1) of Government Decree 1/2012 (1.20) on the student loan scheme if the borrower
retires under normal retirement, becomes permanently disabled or passes away. The forgiving of a
loan debt upon normal retirement or death is equivalent to a financial benefit upon normal
retirement or death, and therefore disbursed student loans partially qualify as insurance contracts
that are within the scope of IFRS 4.

The Company accounts for and presents the loan component and the insurance component of
student loans separately in the statement of comprehensive income, the statement of financial
position and in the statement of cash flows.

Interest income from student loan contracts comprises three components: base interest, operating
premium and risk premium. The base interest covers the interest of the original funds, the operating
premium covers the operating costs and expenses, and the risk interest premium covers the non-
payment risk of the student loans. The risk interest premium and the operating interest premium
can be broken down further into elements relating to financial risk (loan component) and insurance
risk (insurance component). The risk interest premium and the operating interest premium are
broken down into the elements associated with the individual components using actuarial models
applied by the Company.

The amounts disbursed on the basis of student loan contracts and the interest elements assigned to
the loan component are recognised in the statement of financial position as student loans (cf. Note
4.9.2.a) and in the statement of comprehensive income as interest income (cf. Note 4.2). The
interest elements assigned to the insurance component are recognised in the statement of financial
position as insurance premium receivables (cf. Note 4.9.2.b) and in the statement of comprehensive
income as insurance premium income (cf. Note 4.3).

Details on accounting principles for how the actuarial model works are contained in Notes 4.9 and
4.14, and on loss allowances in Notes 5.1.2 and 5.1.3.

4.2. Net interest income

Under interest income the Company recognises the part of the interest received, due for student
loan contracts that relates to the loan component, using the effective interest method.

According to the General Terms and Conditions of the Company, if a borrower is late with payment
or fails to pay, Didkhitel Kézpont charges default interest, which is recognised under interest
income.

Default interest rate:
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a) for loan contracts concluded before 1 May 2004 the transaction interest rate plus 4 percentage
points,

b) for loan contracts concluded after 30 April 2004 the rate is defined pursuant to Section 6:48 of
the Hungarian Civil Code.

The targeted interest subsidy (CKT), which is provided to students who requested a personal loan
(Student Loan 1) is recognised as interest income. According to Section 18 of Government Decree
172012 (1.20), students receive interest subsidy for those periods when they are entitled to infant
care benefit, maternity leave payment and childcarc bencfit (hereinafter: GYLS).

The Company presents the amount of general interest subsidy (AKT), which is provided to those
students for the period of the loan agreement who requested Student loan 2, among interest income
according to (1/2012. (1.20) section 29. The amount of general interest subsidy is equal to the
interest calculated for Student loan 2 products in the presented periods.

The Company recognises the amount of general interest subsidy (AKT) which is provided to those
students for the period of the loan agreement who requested Language Learning Student Loan
(NYDH) as interest income according to 1/2012 (1.20) section 23/C. The required conditions of
general interest subsidy are defined in the government decree.

“If the student loan borrower obtains at least a B2 intermediate complex state-accredited language
exam (from languages defined in Section (2) within 2 months after the conclusion of the loan
agreement and if it is verified according to Section (3), the student is entitled to interest subsidy
from the date of announcement until the end of the contract period.” The amount of the general
interest subsidy is equal to the calculated interest for language learning loan products in the
presented periods.

The effective interest rate (EIR) is the interest rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
payments or receipts through the expected life of a financial instrument (or a shorter period if
appropriate) to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability. The effective
interest rate is determined at initial recognition of the financial asset and liability, and for fixed-
rate instruments it is not adjusted subsequently, except in special cases, while for floating-rate
financial instruments the effective interest is reset upon each re-pricing. When calculating the
effective interest rate, the Company estimates future cash flows considering all contractual terms
of the financial instrument, but not expected credit losses.

Based on Government Decree 1/2012 (1. 20) the Company may change the transaction interest rate
on student loans for every six-month interest period in the manner set forth in Government Decree
172012 (1.20) (if and to the extent justified by financing costs, and changes to the loan risk premium
and the premium on other administrative costs). The Company deems the interest on a student loan
to be similar to a standard floating-rate arrangement, and therefore the EIR is determined for every
six-month interest period based on the current transaction interest rate.

As aresult of applying IFRS 9, for the purposes of expected credit loss calculations, in calculating
interest income the Company applies EIR to the gross carrying amount in the case of Stage 1 and
Stage 2 financial assets (for definition see Notes 3.14 and 4.1.2), while it applies EIR to the gross
carrying amount less impairment for Stage 3 financial assets.

Under interest expense the Company recognises the amounts of interest payable on issued bonds
and on liabilities to credit institutions (loans drawn) using the effective interest method.
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4.3. Premium income, claim expenses

Under premium income the Company recognises the interest received, due on student loans that
pertains to the insurance component. The Company recognises the premium income for the period
during which the risk is covered by the premium (i.e. the period for which the premium was
charged).

Under claim expenses the Company recognises the expenses derived from loan write-offs caused
by insurance events such as normal retirement, permanent disability or death of the borrower.

4.4. Net trading income/expense

For financial assets and financial liabilities measured at amortised cost, the gain or loss arising on
the derecognition of the given instrument or on remeasurement owing to exchange-rate differences
is recognised in the profit or loss for the period, within net trading income/expense.

4.5. Technical reserves and changes thereto

The Company recognises a technical reserve for the risk that future insurance premiums received
from the student loan contracts will, at present value, not cover the amounts forgiven if insurance
events occur.

Subsequent to initial recognition of a technical reserve, the Company remeasures the technical
reserve in accordance with the current risk characteristics of the portfolio. The Company recognises
any gains or losses on remeasurement — which contain the effect of the unwinding of the discount,
the impacts of portfolio changes, and the actuarial gains or losses incurred owing to changes in
actuarial assumptions and the difference between actuarial assumptions and reporting-period
events — through profit or loss in the 'Changes to technical reserves' item. The Company recognises
technical reserves (initial recognition and remeasurement) based on its actuarial model. Details on
how the actuarial model works are contained in Note 5.1.3.

The Company integrates an appropriate risk margin into the measurement of technical reserves.
When determining an appropriate level of risk margin, the Company always takes into account
what realistic opportunities it has to re-price the risk premium (and as part of this the insurance
premium) in the future. An appropriate risk margin is established based on the Company's actuarial
model.

Since the reserve is remeasured on each reporting date, the Company complies with the minimum
criteria for the liability adequacy test under IFRS 4.

4.6. Result of derecognition of assets measured at amortized cost

The Company applies write-offs in case of receivables, which is a direct reduction from gross
carrying amount of a financial asset, when it is not probable that the whole or part of the financial
asset will be paid back. The write-off is counted as derecognition.

The Company terminates any agreement if the borrower’s arrears exceed the amount of monthly
instalments summed for a year - excluding those periods that are affected by the suspension of the
repayment obligation - and the borrower fails to repay this debt within the deadline specified in the
written letter of formal notice of Didkhitel, or if the borrower has required and received a student
loan but did not meet the requirements and conditions specified in the government decree
(unauthorized borrowing).

On this line, the Company presents the amount of written-off and non-collectible Student Loan and
Insurance premium receivables measured at amortized cost as non-recoverable and uncollectible.
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Other information on the collateral of the receivable and the rules of assignment can be found in
Section 5.1.2, the data related to the derecognition are presented in Section 13.

4.7. Other operating income and expenses

The Company discloses items of income and expense separately, unless the standards govern the
aggregation of items of the same nature.

Other operating income includes among others gains and losses on the derecognition and sale of
intangible and tangible assets, as well as amounts received subsequently for expired, forgiven
student loan receivables

Other operating expenses comprise costs incurred during operation, typically costs of services
used. In addition, this item also includes depreciation, amortisation and booked impairment of
tangible and intangible assets, provisions for litigations and other provisions, as well as costs
related to employee benefits.

Other operating expenses include employee benefit costs.

Employee benefit costs include short-term and long-term employee benefits as well as severance
payments.

Short term employee benefits include, but are not limited to wages, salaries, bonuses, short-term
paid absences, non-cash benefits, and related contributions.

Digkhitel Kozpont Zrt. Makes a permanent contribution to the Voluntary Pension Funds after their
employees in the normal course of business. In addition, the Company does not provide any other
post-retirement remuneration to its employees.

The Company has no long-term employee benefits.
4.8. Tax expense, income

Tax expense, income comprises current and deferred tax. Tax expense, income is recognised in the
statement of comprehensive income, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly
in equity or in other comprehensive income, when the tax effect is also presented there.

Current tax comprises the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year calculated using
tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period, as well as any
adjustment to the tax payable in respect of previous periods.

Deferred tax is determined using the balance sheet method, providing for temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the
amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to
be applied to the temporary differences when they reverse based on the laws that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be
available against which they can be used. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit
will be realised.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities can be offset only if there is a legally enforceable
right to set off in respect of income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the Company
intends to settle them on a net basis.
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4.9. Financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets and liabilities are recognised at settlement date. The settlement date is the date that
an asset is delivered to or by the Company. Based on settlement date accounting, the Company
recognises an asset on the day it is received by the Company. An asset is derecognised and any
gain or loss on disposal is recognised on the day that it is delivered by the Company.

At initial recognition, the Company measures a financial asset or financial liability at its fair value
plus or minus, in the case of a financial asset or financial liability not at fair value through profit or
loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issue or acquisition of the financial asset
or financial liability.

Classification, initial recognition and subsequent measurement of financial assets is based on the
business model applied by the Company to manage financial assets, as well as the contractual cash
flow characteristics of the financial asset.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial
asset expire, or when the financial instrument is transferred together with all significant risks and
rewards.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged or
cancelled or expires.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset, and the net amount is presented in the statement of
financial position when the Company has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to
settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Classification and measurement

IFRS 9 implemented a new approach to the classification of financial assets that is based on
contractual cash flow characteristics and the business model applied to manage the asset.
Preliminary analyses were performed for business models and contractual cash flows on the major
portfolio of the Company to identify the method of accounting for financial instruments.

The Company's business models are determined at a level that reflects how groups of financial
assets are managed together to achieve a particular business objective.

The Company's business model for managing financial assets is a matter of fact which is typically
observable through the activities it undertakes to achieve the objective of the business model. When
assessing the business model applied to manage financial assets the Company exercises
consideration, and the outcome of the assessment is not based on a single factor or activity, but the
Company takes all relevant evidence available at the date of assessment into account. Such relevant
evidence includes among others:

a) how the performance of the business model and the financial assets held within the business
model is evaluated and reported to key management personnel, the user of ownership rights;

b) the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within
the model), and particularly the method for managing these risks; and

c) the way managers of the business are compensated (for example, whether the compensation
depends on the fair value of the assets managed or the contractual cash flows collected).

Based on the assessment, for the given portfolio the Company defined the following business
models:

| Business model | Description, features of the model | Applied to |

23/80



D IAKH I 'I:Ll Didkhitel Kozpont Zrt,

Notes to the Financial Statements
Data in HUF million

Business model e its objective is to realise the cash e Student loan
whose objective is to flows of the asset by collecting transactions
hold financial assets contractual payments made during | ¢ Employee loans
to collect contractual its term

cash flows (“HTC”) | e sales are not an integral part of the
business model; instead, they are
incidental to it

e sales are not inconsistent with this
business model

Business model e both collecting contractual cash e not relevant
whose objective is to flow and selling financial assets are

hold financial assets integral to the business model

to collect contractual | e This business model typically

cash flows and sell involves greater frequency and

financial assets value of sales than in the HTC

(“HTAS”) business model.

not relevant

Other business model e c.g. holding for trading

decisions regarding the given asset
are primarily based on its fair
value in order to realise potential
gains resulting from changes in
fair value

Assessment of contractual cash flows (SPPI test)

On initial recognition the Company examines the contractual cash flows of financial assets that are
debt instruments, based on which it determines whether the contractual terms of the given financial
asset give rise, on specified dates, to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding, furthermore, taking features connected to the transaction such
as prepayment option, cases of extension of term into account (SPPI test passed) or not (SPPI test
not passed). The SPPI test is performed and documented by type of financial instruments.

For the purposes of the above
e principal is the fair value of the financial asset at initial recognition;
e interest consists of consideration for the time value of money, for the credit risk associated
with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of time and for other basic
lending risks and costs, as well as profit margin.

The SPPI test is performed for financial assets that are debt instruments at initial recognition.

The above classification principles are not applied to financial assets that are equity instruments.
Such assets are classified as measured at fair value through other comprehensive income at initial
recognition.

Financial assets and liabilities are typically recognised at amortised cost, except when otherwise

required by the standard, or when based on the fair value option the Company has elected
recognition as measured at fair value through profit or loss.
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Purchased or originated credit-impaired assets are impaired at initial recognition.

In case of purchased or originated-impaired assets the entity needs to use a credit-adjusted effective
interest rate from the initial recognition for amortised cost calculation.

In case of previously defined assets, the Company should recognise loss on purchased or originated
credit-impaired assets based on the cumulative change of expected credit loss during expected life
expectancy from initial recognition. This change of credit loss during expected life should be
recognised at each reporting date in Net result for the year as a profit or loss due to impairment.
The positive change of credit loss during expected life should be recognised as a profit due to
impairment even if the amount of credit loss during expected life is smaller, than the expected
credit loss which was presented at initial recognition in the estimated Cash Flow.

The Company has no purchased or originated credit-impaired asset.

The contractual terms of Student Loans are not amended in accordance with legal regulations. The
Company has no credit assessment rights and does not have all the relevant information on debtors’
willingness to pay, hence it has no originated financial asset in relation to modifications.

Impairment

IFRS 9 is an expected credit loss-based impairment model. The standard requires the enterprise to
recognize an expected credit loss on financial assets from initial recognition. Impairment
calculation is presented in Section 4.14.1.

4.9.1. Cash and cash equivalents

The Company recognises the following items as cash and cash equivalents in the statement of
financial position and in the statement of cash flows in both the comparative and the reporting
period: cash on hand, unrestricted balances on bank accounts held at the Hungarian State Treasury
and all investments in debt securities maturing in no more than three months.

Cash and cash equivalents are recognised at amortised cost in the statement of financial position as
at the end of the period.

4.9.2. Financial assets measured at amortized cost

In the reporting period financial assets measured at amortised cost include financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.

Initially these assets are recognised at fair value plus direct transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, financial assets are measured at amortised cost less impairment losses using the
effective interest method.

Financial assets measured at amortised cost include student loans, insurance premium receivables
and other financial assets within other receivables.

a) Student loans

Amounts disbursed under the student loan contracts and the interest assigned to the related loan
component (cf. Note 4.2) are recognised in the statement of financial position as student loans, net
of repayments and accumulated impairment losses. Loans are recognised when such are actually
disbursed to the borrowers (settlement date). They are derecognised when the borrowers repay their
debts, or if they are written off based on one of the events set forth in the Government Decree, and
substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred. Student loans are initially
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recognised at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs; subsequently they are
recognised at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses.
Detailed information on the impairment of student loans is included in Note 4.14.1. Tmpairment of
financial assets'.

b) Insurance premium receivables

The interest assigned to the insurance component (cf. Note 4.3) based on the student loan contracts
is recognised in the statement of financial position under insurance premium receivables, net of
repayments and accumulated impairment losses. Insurance premium receivables are initially
recognised at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs; subsequently they are
recognised at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses.
Detailed information on the impairment of insurance premium receivables is included in Note
4.14.1. 'Impairment of financial assets'.

c¢) Other receivables

Other receivables primarily include trade receivables, advances to employees and miscellaneous
receivables.

Subsequent to initial recognition at fair value, other receivables are recognised at amortised cost in
the statement of financial position.

Trade receivables are recognised based on IFRS 15. Revenue shall be recognised in an amount that
reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for the transfer of
goods or services to the customer.

For trade receivables and contract assets (that may result from transactions within the scope of
IFRS 15) the Company always measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to lifetime expected
credit losses if they do not contain a significant financing component or relate to contracts that have
a duration of less than one year.

If these assets contain a significant financing component, based on its accounting policy choice and
the option provided by the standard, the Company still uses the simplified method, i.e. measures
the loss allowance at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses.

4.9.3. Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

This category includes liabilities other than financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit
or loss. The Company classifies liabilities to credit institutions, issued bonds and financial liabilities
within other liabilities into this category.

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost are recognised initially at fair value. Subsequent to
initial recognition these liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.

Under this method discounts and premiums (including fees, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) are recognised over the remaining term of the related instrument using the effective
interest rate of the instrument. For fixed-rate financial liabilities the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition does not change during the term, except in special cases, while
for floating-rate financial liabilities the effective interest is reset upon each re-pricing.
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a) Liabilities to credit institutions

The Company considers all drawdowns to be separate loan debts. The effective interest rate is
determined separately for each drawdown. Thereafter, for fixed-rate financial liabilities the
effective interest rate does not change during the term, except in special cases, while for floating-
rate financial liabilities the effective interest is reset upon each re-pricing. If the initial fair value
of the drawn loan differs from the amount actually disbursed, thought must be given to
recognising the difference.

b) Issued bonds

The Company also issues bonds to fund the student loans. Each bond issue is considered to be a
separate bond debt. The Company establishes the effective interest rate for each bond issue and
additional issue at the time of the issue and additional issue. When determining the initial cost of
the bonds the Company also takes into consideration the issue discount or premium and the
transaction costs arising during the issue.

¢) Lease obligations

Leasing liabilities include those lease liabilities for which the lessor transfers control of the use of
an asset for monetary compensation. The start date of a lease is the date on which the lessor
transfers the underlying asset to the lessee for use. Lease term is the non-cancellable period for
which the lessee has the right to use the underlying asset, together with the following periods:

a) The periods covered by the extension option when the lessee is reasonably certain that the
option will be exercised; and

b) Periods covered by the termination option if the lessee is reasonably certain that the option
will not be exercised.

The Company measures the lease liability at the inception date as the present value of the unpaid
lease payments by that date. The Company discounts lease payments at the implicit lease rate, if
it is readily determinable. If this interest rate is difficult to determine, the incremental lessee
interest rate is used.

After the commencement date, the lease liability is assessed as follows:

a) by increasing the carrying amount to reflect the interest on the lease liability;
b) areduction in the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made;
¢) carrying amounts in accordance with paragraphs 39-46 of IFRS 16 or by reassessing the

lease or reassessing the revised substantially fixed lease payments (see paragraph B42 of
IFRS 16).

The Company examines each contract individually and determines the value of the lease obligation.
The interest on the lease liability is recognised as interest expense.

d)  Other financial liabilities

Under other liabilities the Company primarily recognises liabilities to suppliers and third parties,
apart from tax-type liabilities.
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4.10. Other assets

Under other assets the Company mainly recognises purchased packaging, promotional gifts and
vouchers purchased for employees.

4.11. Tangible assets

Tangible assets, including leasehold improvements, are measured at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses. Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the asset. Subsequent expenditure related to tangible assets is capitalised only if this
results in future economic benefits for the Company. All other subsequent costs are accounted for
as expense in the period when incurred.

Depreciation is accounted for following the capitalisation of the asset and is calculated using the
straight-line method based on the useful life. The useful lives for the individual tangible asset
categories were the following in the periods covered by the financial statements:

Property

Leasehold improvements ~17 years

Plant, equipment, fittings, vehicles

Technical equipment ~7 years
Administration equipment ~7 year
IT equipment ~3 years
Vehicles 5 years
Other equipment

Office furniture and equipment ~7 years

Depreciation of tangible assets is included in the statement of comprehensive income under “Other
operating expenses”.

Tangible assets are subject to an impairment test if any event or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount might not be recovered. The carrying amount of an asset is immediately
written down to the recoverable amount if the asset's carrying amount is higher that its estimated
recoverable amount. Accounting for impairment is detailed in Note 4.14.2.

Residual values and useful lives of assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are adjusted if
necessary.

The net gain or loss on disposal or scrapping of tangible assets is recognised in “Other operating
income” or “Other operating expenses”, as appropriate, in the year of disposal or scrapping.

4.12. Intangible assets

Intangible assets are identifiable non-monetary assets without physical substance, which are used
for providing services or administration purposes.

Intangible assets are recognised initially at cost, and subsequently at cost less any accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. Intangible assets are written down over their
useful lives using the straight-line method from the date of first use.

Useful lives used for intangible assets in the reported periods were as follows:
Rights and concessions 5 years

Software 5 years
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Amortisation of intangible assets is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income under
“Other operating expenses”.

Intangible assets are subject to an impairment test if any event or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount might not be recovered. The carrying amount of an intangible asset is
immediately written down to the recoverable amount if the asset's carrying amount is higher that
its estimated recoverable amount. Accounting for impairment is detailed in Note 4.14.2.

Residual values and useful lives of intangible assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are
adjusted if necessary.

The net gain or loss on disposal or scrapping of intangible assets is recognised in “Other operating
income” or “Other operating expenses”, as appropriate, in the year of disposal or scrapping.

4.13. Lease right of use assets

In accordance with the requirements of IFRS 16, the Company recognises a right-of-use asset and
a lease liability at the inception of the lease.

The cost of a right of use asset is the lease liability, taking into account the present values of the
unpaid lease payments specified in the contract, with the modifications specified in the standards.

Leases are discounted at the lease rate that is implicit in the lease. If this interest rate is difficult to
determine, an incremental borrowing interest rate is determined.

After the commencement date, the Company measures the right-of-use asset using a cost model.
Initial cost is reduced by any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses
and adjusted by the obligation to restate the lease liability in accordance with the standard if
applicable.

Depreciation is calculated on a linear basis over the term of the lease, which is included in the
“Other operating expenses” line of the statement of comprehensive income.

4.14. Impairment

4.14.1. Impairment of financial assets

According to IFRS 9, the Company is obliged to recognize impairment loss for expected credit
losses.

At each reporting date, the Company reviews and assesses whether the credit risk of any financial
asset has increased significantly since its initial recognition.

In accordance with IFRS 9 a new three-level model has been developed. Financial instruments are
classified with the help of the impairment model in order to determine significant increases in credit
risk after initial recognition and to identify financial assets that are impaired based on IFRS 9.
Those instruments that are impaired or have a significant increase in credit risk since their initial
recognition, credit loss is expected to be recognized over their entire useful life (for definition refer
to Section 5.1.2). If the credit risk has not increased significantly since the initial recognition, the
Company recognizes a 12-month expected loss (for definition refer to Section 5.1.2) for the
financial asset. At evaluation, the Company considers all available information, including forward-
looking ratios, based on an expected loss model.

Impairments and reversals are recognized in profit or loss as an impairment loss / gain.

The Company determines the impairment of student loans and other financial assets as follows.
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Impairment of student loans and insurance premium receivables

In line with IFRS 9, a specific impairment model had to be designed that meets the unique
characteristics of student loans.

The most important of these characteristics from the perspective of the impairment model are as
follows:

e The loans are disbursed over several years, and the loan repayments only start thereafter.

e The repayment instalment depends on the borrower’s income and changes over time.

e When insurance events occur, the remaining loan debt is forgiven and written off. Such
events include the death, permanent disability or retirement of the borrower.

e The amount of the credit facility for the entire term of the contract cannot be predicted in
advance, which is an irrevocable obligation for Diakhitel Kozpont.

The impairment of live contracts is calculated in a stochastic model. This means that every contract
follows a random path, and the portfolio-level results are the average of the large number of random
paths.

The stability of the stochastic model depends on the number of contracts in the loan portfolio and
the number of random runs. Unrealistic computational capacity is needed to obtain stable results,
therefore, homogeneous portfolio groups have been created, taking into account IFRS 9 B5.5.4 and
other professional accounting recommendations, to obtain a stable stochastic valuation.

The Company considered IFRS 9 B5.5.49-51 in the course of the model development, which
recommends that all relevant and available information should be considered during impairment
calculation.

Methodology for classification into portfolios

To calculate the impairment, the entire portfolio was segmented into groups that are homogenous
from a risk perspective but are sufficiently fragmented so that the grouping does not obscure
individual behavior. To determine relevant segmenting variables, we examined the marginal
impairment rates based on the different values of the individual variables, and the same for
combinations of variables. On this basis, for those not yet repaying (those with borrowing and in
waiting status) we segmented based on contract term and the amount of the loan drawn, while for
those already repaying we also used the number of repayment months, the income category, and if
not in default, the in arrears indicator for the last 12 months (0-1, yes - no). In both cases, when
creating the groups, we took into account the stage classification of the contracts too, i.c. the stage
classification of the contracts in a group is the same.

The model calculates rates for impairment, provisions and technical reserves for the groups created
in this way. These grouping rules were recorded in the system of Didkhitel K6zpont as well, and
every contract is classed into one of the defined groups based on the set rules. The impairment is
then calculated for these groups, as a product of the loan debt and the impairment rate for the given

group.
Expected loss calculation

Impairment is calculated at group level by an actuarial calculation model using stochastic
valuations.
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The model inputs can be divided into two groups: contract-level data and external assumptions.
The former contains client data, study data, as well as data on repayments and arrears. The latter
contains portfolio-level assumptions and parameters. This includes assumptions on mortality and
morbidity, as well as general economic assumptions. The latter outline macroeconomic
developments, including inflation forecasting, expected rises in real wages, and expected future
cost of funds of Diakhitel K&zpont.

IFRS 9 requires that future economic trends be taken into account during the calculation of
impairment, and that their impact be incorporated into the calculation method. In addition to the
forward-looking economic assumptions mentioned in the previous paragraph, through labor market
variables — such as wage growth dependent on age, scientific field and career path — as well as the
inactivity rate indicators, future expectations are implemented in the model that make these
expected trends part of the impairment.

The methodology for calculating the total expected loss is as follows:

CF,
Expected loss = Loan outstanding + Expired debt — Z——(l n E;Rt)t

where EIR; indicates the effective interest rate of period t decreased by the insurance premium
component, and CF; is the expected cash flow elements for period t (where t runs to the expected
end of the contract terms) , which are as follows:
e Payment (normal, bullet, state interest-subsidy) (+)
Write-offs due to insurance event (death, disability, retirement) (+)
Recovery of expired debt and cancelled contract (repayment, bullet repayment) (+)
Loan placement (-)
Insurance premium (-)

On this basis, during the calculation of impairment and provisions the result of the insurance
component (write-off from insurance event and the insurance premium) is separated.

Lifetime expected loss can be calculated using the above methodology.
Breaking expected loss down to impairment and provision

According to IFRS 9, the as yet unused amount of the (maximum) credit facility along with the
related provision must be recorded. Similarly, to the impairment calculated for outstanding
receivables, a provision rate per portfolio group is determined for the unused portion of the credit
facility.

On this basis the principal debt outstanding on the valuation date and the loan placements still
expected are recorded separately in the impairment model. Thereafter, the expected loss is divided
between impairment and provision in proportion to the outstanding principal debt and the
disbursement still expected. Subsequently, the provision rate is determined based on the as yet
unused portion of the maximum credit facility per contract.

When determining the impairment rate, the portion of expected loss pertaining to the impairment
is divided by the loan debt for the category.

31/80



D IAKH I @Ll Didkhitel Kozpont Zrt.

Notes to the Financial Statements
Data in HUF million

Modelling methodology for insurance component

For student loan products the insurance risks and the financial risks have to be separated and the
insurance component shall be treated in accordance with IFRS 4. Accordingly, the following
approach is followed in the actuarial model to record technical reserves prospectively for the risk
of insurance components:

Claim payment, z Insurance premium,

Technical reserve = Z
- (1 +n)t (14nr)t

where
e 13 is the discount rate for period t;
e (laim payment, is the write-off in period t for insurance reasons (death, disability,
retirement), including insurance write-offs for expired debt.
e [nsurance premium, is the premium separated for the insurance risk in period t.

The insurance premium is separated from the risk premium in proportion to the insurance and
financial risk during the premium calculation. This means the ratio of the present value of net write-
offs from the entire insurance risk and the present value of financial net write-offs determines the
ratio of the insurance premium and the premium pertaining to impairment within the entire risk
premium.

IFRS Stage classification methodology

According to IFRS 9, the IFRS Stage classification can be based on the internal client rating system
of the given entity. However, according to government regulations Diakhitel K6zpont is obliged to
disburse loans to all students who requests them and meet the statutory requirements, furthermore,
no loan assessment process takes place before contracting. Due to the previously mentioned
reasons, Didkhitel K6zpont does not have an internal client rating system. It would generate
additional significant costs to develop an internal student rating system as the system would not
fulfil any othcr function. The availability of information is limitcd duc to government regulations,
which would cause further difficulties at the system development. Consequently,
Diakhitel Kozpont does not apply rating categories for calculating impairment based on IFRS 9
B.5.5.16 and B.5.5.51.

Based on the above-mentioned reasons, classification into IFRS 9 Stages can be based on any
available information that describes the risk that is assigned to a contract.

The primary criteria for Stage classifications are the status of the student and the degree of arrears
in case of students in repayment phase.

All terminated contracts are recognized as Stage 3.

Student in repayment phase whit less than 30 days of arrears are classified as Stage 1, with delay
between 30-90 days as Stage 2, and in case of more than 90 days of arrears as Stage 3.

Those contracts to which significant credit risk is connected and in addition they are whether in
disbursement phrase or in repayment phase are classified as Stage 2 loans.

The most important explanatory factor in case of contracts that are awaiting to step into repayment
phrase is the reason for student status termination:
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o ifit is negative, the contract will be recognized as Stage 2

o ifit is positive, the contract will be recognized as Stage 1

e if'the reason is unknown
o in case of the information about the termination is from the educational institution,
and the client had an active student status for less than 6 semesters, the contract will
be recognized as Stage 2
o in other cases, it will be recognized as Stage 1

In case of contracts which are in disbursement phase neither the information about the reason for
termination of the student status, nor the student status declaration are available:
o if'there is a negative information about another student status termination of the client, the
contract will be recognized as Stage 2
¢ in case of contracts which are in disbursement phase, the most important explanatory
variable is, that during the disbursement phase how many times had the client a passive
semester
o if'the student had at least 2 passive semester and
* had an active student status for less than 6 semesters and there was no
prepayment, the contract will be recognized as Stage 2
» participates on vocational training or other additional training, the contract
will be recognized as Stage 2
= in other cases, it will be recognized as Stage 1

o ifthe student had maximum 1 passive semester and
= participates on vocational training or other additional training in an
institution with high risk rating or the risk category can’t be classified (the
number of contracts related to the institution is limited), the contract will be
recognized as Stage 2
= if the institution and the education type is unknown related to the student,
the contract will be recognized as Stage 2
= in other cases, it will be recognized as Stage 1

There are students with contract-status of 1, 2 and 3, who have student status with a foreign
institution throughout the disbursement. In this case, the above described information is not
available, so the contracts are automatically recognized as Stage 2.

The methodology for calculating the impairment for the individual Stage categories is presented in
Section 5.1.2.

Impairment of other financial assets

IFRS 9 requires to recognise a loss allowance for expected credit loss at initial recognition of a
financial asset.

The Company wants to use the practical expedient regulated by paragraphs B5.5.35 and 5.5.17 of
IFRS 9.

To estimate the initial credit loss for these financial assets, the Company uses its historical
experience. In subsequent periods it assesses the increase in credit risk individually. The Company
uses the following objective evidence to identify an increase in initial credit risk:
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e the partner has defaulted;
o the partner has entered bankruptcy;
e the partner has entered liquidation.

Impairment is accounted for in profit or loss.

4.14.2. Impairment for non-financial assets

If external or internal circumstances indicate that an asset may be impaired, the given asset is tested
for impairment. Assets in respect of which depreciation or amortisation was accounted for are
tested for impairment if there is any indication that their carrying amount will not be recovered.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value
in use. Value in use is based on the estimated future cash flows discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset that have not been considered in the cash flow estimates.

The Company annually assesses whether there is any indication that an impairment loss recognised
previously may no longer exist or may have decreased. If any such indication exists, the Company
estimates the recoverable amount of that asset. An impairment loss recognised previously may be
reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset's recoverable
amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. An impairment loss shall be reversed only
to the extent that the asset's carrying amount does not exceed the recoverable amount and the
carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no
impairment loss had been recognised. Impairment is recorded and reversed against the “Other
operating expenses” and “Other operating income” items in the statement of comprehensive
income.

4.15. Provisions

Under IAS 37 a provision shall be recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Company has a
present obligation (legal or constructive), and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying
economic benefits will be required to fulfil the obligation, furthermore, the amount of the obligation
can be estimated reliably.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the
present obligation on the reporting date, taking risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation
into account. If a provision is measured using the cash flows expected to be required to settle the
present obligation, the carrying amount of the provision equals the present value of those cash
flows.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a provision is expected to be reimbursed by
another party, the receivable is recognised as an asset when it is virtually certain that reimbursement
will be received, and the amount of the receivable can be estimated reliably.
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Present obligations under onerous contracts are recognised as a provision. The Company considers
a contract onerous when the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under the contract exceed
the economic benefits expected to be received under it.

The provision for expected future liabilities is recognised under “Other operating expenses”.

Under IFRS 9 a provision shall be recognised for the expected credit loss of loan commitments.
The amount of the provision related to student loans is determined based on the actuarial model.
The amount of the provision is recognised under “Impairment, provision booked on loans”.

4.16. Share capital and other reserves

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the
consideration received less direct issue costs. Capital increases are recognised in equity from the
date the value of the shares can be demanded from shareholders.

4.16.1. Capital reserve
The capital reserve comprises contributions made by shareholders that form part of equity but do
not qualify as share capital or share premium, which is recognised under other reserves.

4.16.2. Retained earnings
This reserve comprises the profits and losses of the reporting year and previous periods, and the
impacts of changes to the accounting policies.

4.16.3. Other reserves

Other reserves comprise the difference between the initial fair value and the actual amount
disbursed of the low-interest loan drawn from the MFB, as a capital contribution.

4.17. Government grants

The Company applies the rules for accounting for and disclosing government grants and disclosing
other forms of government assistance in line with the provisions of IAS 20 — Accounting for
Government Grants and Disclosure of Government Assistance.

A government grant that becomes receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already
incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Company with no future
related costs shall be recognised as income of the period in which the government grant becomes
receivable.

The Company discloses its disclosures with government grants and the government as a related
party in Note 32.

At its discretion, the Company applies the gross presentation method for presenting government
grants related to assets, so they are recognised separately as deferred income that is amortised over
the useful life of the asset.

4.18. Segment information

IFRS 8 “Operating Segments” stipulates how listed entities should present information in financial
statements on their operating segments, the products and services they produce and their
geographical breakdown. Application of the standard is compulsory if the entity’s debt or equity
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instruments are traded in a public market (a domestic or foreign stock exchange or an over-the-
counter market, including local and regional markets).

Bonds issued by the Company were withdrawn from regulated market trading on 9 November
2018.

Following the withdrawal of the bonds, the Company is not obliged to present operating segment
information.

S. Financial and insurance risk management

5.1. General introduction of financial and insurance risks

In respect of its financial assets and liabilities along with the insurance component of its student
loan contracts the Company is exposed to the following risks:

e credit risk
e insurance risk
e liquidity risk

market risk

e prepayment risk

The information presented below in relation to the risks outlined above details the Company's risk
management strategy and processes along with its capital adequacy policy.

5.1.1. Risk management framework

The Company's activities imply a certain degree of risk-taking; assessing, evaluating, limiting,
accepting and managing these risks form an integral part of the Company's daily operational
activities.

The Company's risk management activities and processes were designed to facilitate the constant
monitoring of changes in the risk environment.

Organisational framework for risk management related to financing

The financing activity of Diakhitel Kozpont is facilitated by the Government Debt Management
Agency. The basic funding principles set forth in the financing strategy are used to prepare an
annual Financing Plan in text format, and monthly plans in figures, with the help of the MFB;
besides the Shareholder of the Company this is also approved by the Minister of Finance in the
prevailing Budget Act. The Company's Financing Committee generally convenes once a month,
and it makes decisions on all financing transactions within the annual framework approved by the
Shareholder and the Minister at the same time as the Financing Plan, taking into account current
data regarding core activities as well as market conditions.

Internal control system
The Company designs its internal controls in accordance with relevant legislation and the

recommendations of the National Bank of Hungary on the design and operation of internal
safeguards.
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Part of the Company's internal control functions involves a risk management function that is aimed
at ensuring the Company can identify, measure and manage its risks appropriately so that the risks
which occur do not jeopardise ongoing operations. The Company employs an independent, external
actuary for the purposes of modelling credit risk. If the level of risk undertaken by the Company
does not conform to the guidelines in the strategy, the CEO takes action to mitigate the risks.

5.1.2. Credit risk

Credit risk means the potential risk that the borrower does not meet its payment obligations, or not
on time, or the value of the receivables falls due to a deterioration of the borrower's credit rating.
Credit risk for the Company is derived mainly from student loans and insurance premium
receivables.

Collaterals

Student loan conditions set out in the Decree shall was stipulated in § 3. (2) the borrower is entitled
- without individual credit assessment and risk assessment. There are no collaterals related to the
loans. The termination of the credit agreement subject to the conditions set out in the Company's
statutory obligation to assign the loan receivables.

Credit risk management

The forecast credit risks associated with student loans and insurance premium receivables the
Company employs a credit risk and actuarial model designed by an independent, external actuary.
Based on historical data from the student loan system, other demographic and higher education
data as well as future expectations and forecasts, the model determines the risk premium to be
charged to clients in the interest on student loans so that this covers the expected loss generated by
credit risks and so the loan system functions in a sustainable manner.

Credit risk are partially managed by the Company’s collections department, where soft collection
methods are used to reach borrowers who are not paying properly. If the conditions set forth in
legislation occur, the Company is entitled to terminate the student loan contracts with the clients
concerned.

Upon termination of the contract of the Company until 31 December 2017 were eligible customers
was to deliver the dismissal owed to the tax authorities, has been recovered by the time when, by
the way of taxes. Tax authority was entitled to carry out actions in order to recover the debt. The
amounts collected by tax authority was forwarded to Didkhitel Kozpont Zrt. Once the tax authority
notified the Company about collection, the receivable was derecognised.

408/2017 (XI1.15) government regulation put into force an amendment according to which a claim
last month of the calendar quarter arising from the cancelled first day of the loan agreement on the
first working day of the next calendar quarter of the student loan organization should Hungarian
Debt Management Private Limited Company (hereinafter referred to MKK Zrt.) For sale. The
student loan organization to authorize payment in instalments to the borrower during the period
between the termination and the date of the assignment of the contract.

The consideration for claims to be assigned is determined by the Diakhitel Zrt and MKK Zrt. on
the basis of the pricing method developed and approved by the actuary in accordance with the
provisioning methodology.

The Didkhitel and MKK Zrt. revise the pricing methodology for a year and, if adjusts its output if
necessary, after the head of actuary approved the company applied this new methodology.
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The first assignment took place in January 2019, during which the terminated contracts were
transferred to MKK Zrt. As a result of the assignment, the mortgage registered in favour of the
Company was transferred to the assignee.

For the Company, the statutory rules of loan assignment ensure the reduction of credit losses related
to student loans.

Structure and operation of the actuarial model

In the interests of random event convergence, the model does not us model points in groups, each

contract is evaluated as a separate model point.

All model points follow a stochastic, random part in the model. This approach enables parts per
contract, and the execution of various sensitivity analyses if there is a suitably large number of
paths. The model calculates the loan placements expected each month, the income from repayments
and interest subsidies, the repayment of overpayments, financing costs and other operating costs,
amounts recovered from cancelled contracts, as well as changes I balance sheet items (total loan
amount, reserves, etc.) The level of impairment and the annual premium can be determined with
the help of such projected profits and losses.

The actuarial model also calculates the provision to be recorded for the expected credit over
regarding the insurance reserve and the and the loan commitments.

Examination of non-payment chances and arrears

Every month the models allocate a status to each model point, which together with other parameters
— given in the model point table or as an input — determines the cash flows related to the model
point in the given month. The contracts in the models are sorted into the following statuses: under
disbursement awaiting repayment in repayment — not in areas, in areas (grouped according to level
of arrears), cancelled (collection or payment relief), maternity benefit (GYES) disability, repaid,
death or retirement age reached. The model assumes that all status changes take place in the middle
of the month and all cash movements occur at the end of the month. Depending on their nature, the
transition between the statuses can be deterministic, independent or stochastic. The transition from
the waiting period to the repayment period is deterministic, meaning it happens if the contract
reached the pre-defined durations of individual periods. The probability of moving into the death
disability and GYES statuses is the same from all other non-absorbing statuses. The sizes of the
transitions were determined on the basis of publicly available statistics for the entire populations
but adjusted with expert estimates. The probabilities of transitions into arrears statuses and from
there to cancellation or to paying status are determined by transition probabilities defined with
multivariable analysis. The transition probabilities between statuses are determined by the
following model point parameters: gender, income, age, principal debt, area of science, number of
months in default, and how long has the client been in the repayment status.

The following table shows the ratio of contracts terminated in the calendar year owing to non-
payment compared to the number of contracts under repayment at the beginning of the year.

Product 31 December 2019 31 December 2018
Student Loan 1 1,13% 1,07%
Student Loan 2 2,51% 2,29%
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The table below presents the exposure of the Company to credit risk at the end of reporting periods:

31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Credit risk restated
Cash and cash equivalents 290 478
Student loans 199 499 220325
Insurance premium receivables 1047 1345
Other financial assets 326 305

167 207 179 485

Maximum value of assets exposed to credit risk on

31 December 368 369 401 938

The Company manages the concentration of credit risk at the level of customers / customer groups
and examines the risk of student loan products separately.

The concentration of Student Loans and Insurance Claims is shown in the table below.

Credit risk 31 December 2019 31 December 2018
Student loans restated
DH1 164 312 190 698
DH2 34 855 29 627
Language learning student loan 332 0
Total 199 499 220 325
Insurance premium claims

DH1 1033 1321
DH2 14 24
Total 1047 1345
Lending commitments

DH1 100178 121 165
DH2 67 027 58 320
Language learning student loan 2 0
Total 167 207 179 485

Impairment

Calculation of Stage 1 impairment

Under IFRS 9, if, at the reporting date, the credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition, the loss allowance for that financial instrument shall be
measured at an amount equal to 12-month expected credit losses, i.e. expected credit losses that
result from default events that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting date as
described in section “Expected loss calculation”.
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Diakhitel Kozpont defines “default” as falling behind on payments for more than 90 days.
Furthermore, once a contract is terminated, it cannot be recovered. Based on this, the 12-month
expected loss should be allocated to those contracts only from the whole population, which fall
behind on payments for more than 90 days in the first 12 months after valuation date and do not
recover, thus they are terminated due to the previously mentioned reasons.

The Company does not assess impairment on student loans and insurance premium receivables per
contract, but for portfolio groups created using a set methodology, i.e. on a portfolio basis.

Calculation of Stage 2 and Stage 3 impairment

The lifetime expected credit loss is credit loss that results from all possible default events over the
expected life of a financial instrument.

The difference in treatment between Stage 2 and Stage 3 groups is found with the accounting for
impairment under IFRS 9 requirements, there is no difference between the two groups in terms of
modelling. Consequently, the impairment for Stage 2 and Stage 3 groups is calculated the same
way.

For student loans and insurance premium receivables in Stage 2 and Stage 3 lifetime expected loss
is calculated in line with IFRS 9 requirements, as follows: the impairment for individual portfolio
groups is calculated as the difference between the existing loan debt and the present value of the
expected cash flows calculated using the effective interest rate. In this case the effective interest
rate is the loan interest rate less the risk premium for insurance risks.

The time that previously defaulted contracts have to spend in a non-default status before they can
be considered cured is set by the Company at 3 months.
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The following table presents impairment booked by the Company in 2019

1 December 209
Stwrbent b § Silslent Loy ¥ Vangagr learmipg stedent lian Tatsl
ndent loans i skl
Student loa Gwn salge Boaked o value]  Grona sibiie Booked o vibiir]  Gross value Net wiliie | Gross valur Meabrl i
impairment Impitment ianjmimm
STAGE! 136 366 1369 134 997 31012 160 30 852 332 o 332 167 710 1529 166181
Contracts being disbursed, nol Jisbursable, awaiting repay nent 27844 % 27 748 19 065 30 19 035 332 0 332 47 241 126 47115
Contracts with repaywient obligation started, not in armars or with suspendod
h 101748 1095 100 653) 11465 117 11 348 o [\
repayman 113213 1212 112001
Contmcts with repayment obligation slarted, with ammers of 1-30 days 6774 178 4 596/ 482 13 469 o a 0| 7256 191 7065
STAGE2 15704 1954 13 750 2631 238 2393 0 o 0 18335 2192 16 143
Conimacls being disbursed, not disbursable, awailing nepay meat 2145 183 1967] 1113 50 1063 0 0 q 3258 233 3025
Can(racls wilh repay ment obligation started, not in arrears or with suspanded
850 46 804 21 1 20 o o 4
fepay menl 87 47 824
Contracts with nepayment abligation started, with arrears ol 3-60 days 7934 994 6940 980 101 879, [ o q 8014 1095 7819
(Contracts willi repay man obligation started, with arrears of 61-90 days 4775 731 4 044] 517 86 431 0 Q 0) 5292 B17 4475
STAGE3 23432 7867 15 565 2276 666 1614 ] ] af 25708 8533 17175
Conlracts with repayment oblipation slarfed, with arrears of 91-120 days 4079 794 3285 566 100 466 a o af 4645 294 3751
Contracts with repay nient obligation staried, with arrears of 121-130 days 2809 844 2165 213 19 164 0 [ q 3022 §93 2329
(Contracls will repayment obligation startal, witl arrears of 131180 days 2445 624 1823 236 55 181 a (] af 2681 679 2002
Contracts with repay ment abligation started, with arrcars of 181-3(10 days 8677 3436 5241 853 300 553 ] 0 0) 9530 3736 5794
Contracts wilh repaymem obligation started, with arrars of at least 301 days 47 2082 2 689} 330 131 199| o o 0l 5101 2213 2888
Terminated or not sefited contmes 651 287 364 78 31 47| 2 a 0) 729 318 411
Dafante 3t 31 Decomber 175 502 1119 164 312 35919 1064 34855 332 0 3312 211753 12254 199499
Stwibeni L 1 Stbent L 2 Language leanting student lonn Tural
[nsurance premium receivables ik o ced ity
P Grms yaie: - MOREL o tie] Gt |, PPN nervaie| G st Buoked o votue| Grow st o TN
iy impirment fmpaitment Il et
STAGE I a1 9 812 12 o 12 L] o 0| 833 9 824
(Contracts teing dishursed, nol disbursable, awailing repay ment 145 1 144) 10 a 10 '] -] [ 155 1 154
Contrmets with repa | obligation started, nol i s or with suspendod
ontmcts with repaynient obligation s nol in arrears ot with susp: = o . B d 3 n = o - " 624
| repay men
(Contracts wilh repayment abligation stariwd, with arréars of 1-30 day s 49 1 48 0 [} o 0 0 o 49 1 48
STAGE2 106 14 92 1 [ 1 ] o 0| 107 14 o3
Contracts being disbursed, not disbursable, awailing repaynwnt 10 1 9 1 0 1 Q '] 0 1 1 10
Contracts wilh repaymenl obligation started, nol in arrears or with suspanded
- Hgations P -] 1 1 0 0 o) ) 0 a 8 1 7
repay ient
Contracls with 1epaymeni obligation slarted, with arrears of 31-60 days 53 7 48] 0 0 0 o 0 0 53 7 16
Conimcls with repayment abligation slartad, with arrears of 61-90 days 35 5 30 [ o 2 a 4 [y 35 s 30}
STAGE3 195 66 129 i 0 1 [ o 0 196 66 130}
Contracts wilh repayment obligation slaried, with arrears ol 91-120 days 32 & 26, 0 o Q 0 0 of 32 o 26
Contracts with repay mant abligation started, with arears af 121-150 days 2 ;, 18 Q o o [ a o 23 5 18
[Contracts wilh repaymant obligation started, with arrears ol 151-180 day's 20 s 18] 0 0 o 0 (] [ 20 5 15|
(Comracts with 1cpaynient ohligation started, wilh ammears ol 181-300 days 72 29 43 1 L) 1 o [ af 73 29 44
(Contracts with repayniant obligation startud, wilh arrears of al lasl 301 days 43 19 24 0 0 of 0 o af 43 19 24
Tammtod or mot s thad oot racts S 2 3 0 0 o 0 0 0 2 2 1
Balance at 31 December 1122 89 1033 14 0 14 o [ 0 1136 89 1047
Receivables related ta student loan cllents as at 31 December 176 624 11279 165 345 35933 1064 34 869 332 @ 332 212 889 12343 200546
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The following table presents restated impairment booked by the Company in 2018

31 December 2018
Student Loan | Student Loan 2 Total
Student toans . l'ionkcll Netvalue| Grossvalue | I?«mkul Netsalue|Gross svalue Falial Net value
impairmeng II“|)‘1III'I“L"|| g e
STAGE 1 152371 1540 150831 25 385 166 25219| 177 756 1706 176 050
Contracls being disbursed, not disbursable, awaiting repayment 30440 95 30345 16 428 35 16 393 46 868 130 46738
Contracts with repayment obligation started, not in arrears or with suspended
repayment 113983 1193 112730 8501 114 8 387 122 484 1307 121177
(Contracts with repayment obligation started, with arrears of 1-30 days 7948 252 7696 456 17 439 8 404 269 8135
STAGE 2 17 676 2458 15 218 3 468 264 3204 21144 2722 18 422
Contracls being disbursed, not disbursable, awaiting repayment 2294 183 2111 2163 44 2119 4457 227 4230
Contracts with repayment obligation started, not in arrears or with suspended
repayment #0643 58 991 9 0 i 1058 58 1000
Contracts with repayment obligation started, with arrears of 31-60 days 8983 1291 7698 800 112 688 9789 1403 8386
Contracts with repayment obligation started, with arrears of 61-90 days 5344 926 4418 496 108 388 5 B4D 1034 4806
STAGE 3 49178 24529 24 649 1849 645 1204 51027 25174 25853
Contracts with repayment obligation started, with arrears of 91-120 days 4449 956 3493 345 78 267 4794 1034 3760
Contracts with repayment obligation started, with arrears of 121-150 days 3388 858 2530 197 54 143 3585 912 2673
Contracts with repayment obligation started, with arrears of 151-180 days 2609 735 1874 132 37 95 2741 772 1969
Contracts with repayment obligation started, with arrears of [81-300 days 9399 3672 5727 600 227 373 9999 3899 6100
Contracts with repayment obligalion started, with arrears of at least 301 days 4959 2255 2704 264 110 154 5223 2365 2858
Terminated or not settled conlracts 24374 16053 8321 ENE 139 172 24 685 16 192 8493
Balance at 31 December 219225 28527 190698 30702 1075 29 627 249 927 29602 220325
Student Loan | Student Loan 2 Total
Insurance premium receivables Grossvlue | I?(mkml Netvalue| Gross vidue r.hm“d Net value| Gross value s Nel valug
impairment i nl i et
STAGE 1 1006 11 995 18 0 18 1024 11 1013
Contracls being disbursed, not disbursable, awaiting repayment 155 1 154 15 0 15 170 i 169
Contracts with repayment obligation started, not in arrears or with suspended 788 8 780 3 o 3 701 8 783
repayment
(Conlracts with repayment obligation started, with arrears of 1-10 days 63 2 61 0 o 0 63 2 61
STAGE 2 133 20 113 4 0 4 137 20 117
Contracts being disbursed, not disbursable, awaiting repayment 11 1 10, E] a 3 14 1 13
Contracts with repayment obligation started, not in arrears or with suspended 10 1 3 0 0 o 10 1 9
Tepayment
Contracts with repayment obligation started, with arrears of 31-60 days 69 10 59 1 o 1 70 10 60
Contracts with repayment obligation started, with arrears of 61-90 days 43 8 35 0 o 0| 43 8 a5
STAGE 3 393 180 213 2 0 2 395 180 215
Contracts with repayment obligation started, with arrears of 91-120 days ELY 8 27! 0 0 0 35 8 27
Contracts with repayment obligation started, with arrears of 121-150 days 29 7 22 o] 0 o] 29 7 22
(Contracts with repayment obligation started, with arrears of 151-180 days 23 6 17 0 0 0 23 6 17
Contracts with repayment obligation started, with arrears o[ 181-300 days 86 33 53 1 0 1 87 33 54
Contracis with repayment obligation started, with arrears of at least 301 days 47 22 25 0 o 0 47 22 25
Tenminated or not settled contracts 173 104 69 1 i} 1 174 104 70
Balance at 31 December 1532 211 1321 24 0 24 1556 211 1345
Recelvables related to student loan clients as at 31 December 220757 28738 192019 30726 1075 29 651 251483 29 813 221670
Changes in impairment booked are presented below:
The data for 2018 has been modified.
3 ) Language
A i Sutdent Student g 'g
Changes to impairment learning  Total
Loanl Loan2
Student loan
Opening balance at 1 January 2018 29415 561 0 29976
Increase due to origination and purchase 10 12 0 22
Decrease due to derecognition -894 0 0 -894
Net change arising from credit risk and estimation parameters changes 989 502 0 1491
Decrease duto to write-offs -782 0 0 -782
Closing balance at 31 December 2018 28738 1075 0 29813
Increase due to origination and purchase 7 6 0 13
Decrease due to derecognition -458 -15 0 -473
Net change arising from credit risk and estimation parameters changes -485 189 0 -296
Decrease duto to write-offs -16 523 -191 0 -16714
Closing balance at 31 December 2019 11279 1064 0 12343
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Ratio of impairment for cancelled contracts was as follows:
Language learning

year Student loan 1 Student loan 2 Student loan
2019 44,1% 39,7% 0%
2018 Adjusted 65,8% 44,6% 0%

The following table presents the amount of provision recognised for student loan commitment at
the end of the reporting periods:

31 December 2019
— Student Loan 1 Student Loan 2 Language learning Student loan Total
° Gross value Provision Gross value Provision Gross value Provision Gross value  Provision
STAGE 1 78 487 0 58 558 0 2 o] 137 047 0
STAGE 2 9913 64 5010 35 0 ] 14923 99
STAGE 3 11778 0 3459 0 0 0 15237 0
palance'at 31 100178 6 67027 35 2 0 167207 99
December
31 December 2018
. Student Loan 1 Student Loan 2 Total
Loan commitment — — ——
Gross value Provision Gross value Provision Gross value Provision
STAGE 1 82833 1 50473 0 133 306 1
STAGE 2 10 602 218 4310 39 14912 257
STAGE 3 27 730 0 3537 0 31267 0
Balance at 31
— 121165 219 58320 39 179 485 258
December

Changes to provisions recognised:

Language
learning  Total
student loan

Student Student

Changes to provisions loan1  loan 2

Opening balance at 1 January 2018 197 29 0 226
Reporting year impairment 22 10 0 32
Reporting year reversal 0 0 0] 0
Impairment as of 31 December 219 39 0 258
Reporting year impairment 259 86 0 345
Reporting year reversal -414 -90 0 -504
Closing balance at 31 December 2019 64 35 0 99

5.1.3. Insurance risk
Management of insurance risk

The risk premium charged in the interest on student loans also covers the implicit insurance risks
in the student loans. Such insurance elements include writing off the loan if the client passes away,
or forgiving the loan upon retirement or permanent disability. The actuarial model designed to
estimate the risk premium is developed and operated by an independent, external actuary, where
the insurance risks are considered separately from the credit risks. To calculate the risks, life
expectancy and disability data along with retirement data were monitored and analysed in the
model. The model calculates the value of the technical reserve for the insurance element.
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Calculation of technical reserves

The loss incurred upon an insurance risk event is considered to be an insurance loss. The reserve
is calculated for all of the valid contracts. When calculating the reserve, the portion of the student
loan costs that pertains to insurance risks must be taken into account under expenses too. The
portion of the risk premium that pertains to these risks is the net insurance premium. The gross
premium is the net premium plus the cost margin. The cost margin is the prorated allocation
between insurance and non-insurance risks of the cost margin portion of the interest premium,
assuming that costs and cost margins are identical. The technical reserve equals the difference
between the present value of the expenses calculated using the interest on original funds and the
present value of the premiums using the interest on original funds. The calculation of the insurance

reserve is based on many assumptions.

In connection with the language learning student loan product introduced on October 15, 2019,
the reserve calculation will be determined under the same conditions as the Student Loan 1

product.
I1. half of I. half of I1. half of I. half of
Student Loan 1 2019 2019 2018 2018
Risk distribution
Mortality 4,50% 4,55% 4,24% 6,06%
Disability 8,69% 6,85% 6,53% 8,80%
Pension 1,11% 0,75% 1,08% 1,60%
Total insurance risk 14,30% 12,15% 11,85% 16,46%
Non-payment 85,70% 87,85% 88,15% 83,54%
Total financial risk 85,70% 87,85% 88,15% 83,54%
Total 100,00% 100,00% 100,00% 100,00%
Student Loan 2
I1. half of L. half of I1. half of I. half of
2019 2019 2018 2018
Risk distribution
Mortality 4,44% 4,26% 3,02% 3,64%
Disability 5,60% 5,01% 3,61% 5,08%
Pension 0,30% 0,66% 0,14% 0,17%
Total insurance risk 10,34% 9,93% 6,77% 8,89%
Non-payment 89,66% 90,07% 93,23% 91,11%
Total financial risk 89,66% 90,07% 93,23% 91,11%
Total 100,00% 100,00% 100,00% 100,00%

Insurance risks do not include access risks other than those mentioned above. There are no
significant known concentrations of insurance risks.

The following tables contain assumptions for financing interest, operating premium and wage
inflation in the calculations:

Student Loan 1

31 December 2019 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026+

2019 2020 2021
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Financing interest 0,78% 0,87%  0,90% 1,21% 2,47% 3,83% 4,79% 5,50%
Operating premium 1,15% 1,12% 1,47% 1,53% 1,58% 1,65% 1,70% 1,75%
Wage inflation 6,40% 5,96% 5,04% 450% 4,50% 4,50% 4,20% 3,60%
Student Loan 2
31 December 2019 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026+
Financing interest 0,78% 0,87% 0,90% 1,21% 2.47% 3,83% 4,79% 5,50%
Operating premium 1,15% 1,37% 1,47% 153% 1,58% 1,65% 1,70% 1,75%
Wage inflation ) 6,40% 5,96%  5,04% 450% 4,50% 4,50% 4,20% 3,60%
Student Loan 1
31 December 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026+
Financing interest 0,80% 1,31% 1,84% 240% 2,85% 3,19% 3,46% 3,53%
Operating premium 1,08%  1,29% 1,30% 1,38% 1,44% 152% 1,58% 1,58%
Wage inflation 470% 4,56% 4,44% 421% 421% 421% 4.21% 4,21%
Student Loan 2
31 December 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026+
Financing interest 0,80% 1,31% 1,84% 240% 2,85% 3,19% 3,46% 3,53%
Operating premium 1,12%  1,29% 1,30% 1,38% 1,44% 1,52% 1,58% 1,58%
Wage inflation 470% 456%  4,44% 421% 421% 421% 421% 4,21%

The following assumptions are used to calculate the impairment of loan contracts and technical
provisions in case of Student Loan 1 and Student Loan 2:

e Minimum wage
In case of cash-flow projection, the model uses the minimal wage applied on 31 October the

year before the first they of the projection according to 1/2012. (1.20) Government decree.

The amount of minimal wage, regulated by government decrees, over the years are shown below:

Year Government decree Minimum wage
2017 430/2016. (XII. 15.) 127 500
2018 430/2016. (XII. 15.) 138 000
2019 324/2018. (XII. 30.) 149 000
2020 367/2019. (XII. 30.) 161 000

e Collection rate
According to the contract framework concluded in December 2018 with MKK Zrt and
according to the Government Decree Section 19 (7) on Student Loan System, the Company is
obliged to assign all of its terminated contracts and unpaid receivables that arose until the first
day of the last month of every quarter.

Recovery rate, which is 56,2% in case of Student Loan 1 receivables and 60,4% in case of
Student Loan 2 receivables, is determined for terminated contracts based on the purchase price.
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The collection rates calculated for contracts terminated at the end 0f 2018 were also determined
based on the contract prices concluded with MKK Zrt. The impairment for existing contracts
are 61%/57%/52% according to principal outstanding groups.

e Mortality estimates were determined based on the People’s Mortality Table prepared for 2017.
The difference between the actual mortality experienced during the years in case of Student
Loan 1 portfolio and the expected mortality according to the Mortality Table was analysed.
Age groups and a non-dependent modification factor was used for reserve-determination based
on previously obtained results.

e The information for disability rate was prepared by taking into account national NYIKA data.
Due to analysis carried out on Student Loan 1 portfolio, a modification factor was applied.

e Probability of lump sum repayment: The probability of lump sum repayment was defined,
based on the data collected on Student Loan 1 portfolio in the period of 2016-2018, as a
function of status and loan amount to be repaid, taking into consideration contracts in
repayment status and contracts in arrears separately.

The table below contains probability data derived from empirical experience in accordance with
the assumptions made and used during pricing.

The probability of bullet repayment in the disbursement and pre-repayment period is zero.

Probability of lump sum repayment

Contracts in  Outstanding Contracts in Outstanding

Loan amount (HUF) repayment contracts repayment contracts
31 December 2019 31 December 2018

0 - 500000 17,05% 10,93% 17,08% 11,34%

500 001 - 1 000 000 6,96% 3,74% 6,81% 3,63%

1 000 000 - 1 500 000 3,60% 2,24% 3,57% 1,97%

1500 001 - 2 000 000 2,06% 1,3%% 2,12% 1,21%

2 000001 - . 1,08% 0,68% 1,09% 0,60%

e Probability and rate of prepayment: The model defines the rate of prepayment as a percentage
of the amount of repayment in regular instalments and assumes it will occur once a year. The
estimate is based on the Student Loan 1 portfolio data.

Depending on the size of the required annual mandatory repayment amount, different amounts and

probabilities of prepayment are expected, based on the available information, the following
assumptions were used in the model:
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31 December 2019 31 December 2018
The amount The amount
of the of the
repayment repayment
Required amount of Gnohahility ass Required amount of Probability .
repayment ol percentage repayment of repayment percentage
repayment of the of the
amount of amount of
the annual the annual
repayment repayment
0 - 100000 47,14% 53,40% 0 - 100000 48,62% 49,55%
100001 - 200000 49,36% 24,35% 100001 - 200000 49,61% 23,26%
200001 - 49,29% 13,03% 200 001 - 48,55% 12,86%

e Starting income: Starting income figures are based on actuarial analysis, which relies on the
income database prepared by the National Pension Insurance Directorate in 2014, which was
amended with the wage inflation date of years 2015-2017. A starting income appropriate for the
given gender and education and the assumed income category (pessimistic, average, optimistic)
is assigned randomly to every contract. The starting income increases year by year with the
wage growth factor dependent on the contracting party’s age. The retrospective assessment of
experimental income data required the introduction of a new income category: inactive. In the
model, the income of inactive workers remains below the prevailing minimum wage throughout
the repayment period. Furthermore, the monitoring and updating of the starting income table
was introduced.

o Age-dependent wage growth: Starting wages and salaries and the growth thereof depend on
the scientific area as well as the borrower’s gender and age. Starting wages and salaries were
defined by data from the National Pension Insurance Directorate. It assigns an assumed random
carrier path to the contract, to which it allocates an annual wage growth factor.
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Sensitivity test of reserves:

The table below analyses the impacts of changing those assumptions that affect reserves the

most.
31.12.2019 31.12.2018
Student Loan 1 Original Modified : Original Modified .
. . Reserve Change = . Reserve Change
assumption assumption assumption  assumption 2
_Under llsic assumptions 2991 2901
by age grouns * +10% 3069 2,61%| by age groups +10% 2957 1,93%
population) eseF -10% 2 905 -2,88% b -10% 2767 -4,62%
Disability (relative to national data) by age erouns * +10% 3131 4,68%| by age groups +10% 3042 4,86%
VRSP -10% 2843 -4, 95% ¥ -10% 2723 -6,14%
assumptions) +1% 2767  -7,49% -1% 3183 9,72%
-1% 3290 10,00% +1% 2 668 -8,03%
= o, ¥ 9, Y 0, 0, o 0,
Collection rate on cancelled contracts Based on MKK +1% 2987 0,13% Based on MKK 62%/58%/53% 2898 0,10%
contract contract
rac 1% 2986 -017% 60%/56%/51% 2855  -1,50%
Risk premium 0.00% -0,1% 2975 -0,53% 064% -0,1% 2955 1,86%
0
Risk premium ! +0,1% 3006 0,50% ! +0,1% 2793 -3,72%
p
Cost of resaurces -1% 3381 13,04% -1% 2648 -8,72%
Cost of resources +1% 2715 -923% +1% 3269 12,69%
Pricing 3273 1282%|
31.12.2019 31.12.2018
Student Loan 2 Original Modified Reserve Chanse Original Modified Reserve Chanee
assumption assumption ®" | assumption  assumption ’ g
Under basic assumptions 162 95
population} +10% 180 11,11%]| by age groups 116 22,11%
by age groups * +10%
-10% 145  -10,49% N 89  -6,32%
by age groups * +10% 175 8,02%| by age groups +10% 109 14,74%
Disability (relative to national data) v age group -10% 135 -16,67% d -10% 70 -26,32%|
assumptions) +1% 138  -14,81% -1% 111 16,84%
-1% 162 0,00% +1% 78 -17,89%
[ ! 0, 0, _ 0,
Collection rate on cancelled contracts Based on MKK +1% 158 2,47% Based on MKK 62%/58%/53% 94 1,05%
contract contract
-1% 151 -6,79% 60%/56%/51% 91 -4,21%
Risk premium hal -0,1% 157 309% -0,1% 125  31,58%
r o r
Risk premium +0,1% 149 -8,02% +0,1% 66 -30,53%
Cost of resources -1% 133 -17,90% -1% 111 16,84%
Cost of resources +1% 173 6,79% +1% 80 -15,79%
Pricing 175 84,21%

Technical reserves are sensitive to changes in assumptions about real wage growth, life expectancy
and disability, whereas assumptions on collection rates have less of an impact on reserves. Changes
to the risk premium rate also have a significant influence on the reserve level.

During the pricing sensitivity review, calculations were made applying annual pricing conditions,
which differ from the assumptions on year-end reserves primarily in economic assumptions (real
wage growth, cost of funds, operating expenses, default interest).
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The level of the risk premium also influences the size of the technical reserve; changes to the risk
remium are illustrated in the following table:

Level of the risk premium
Interest period Student Student La“g".“gc
learning
Loan 1 Loan 2 :
eredit
01.01.2018-30.06.2018 0,50% 1,41% -
01.07.2018-31.12.2018 0,64% 1,45% -
01.01.2019-30.06.2019 0,33% 1,09% -
01.07.2019-31.12.2019 0,00% 0,93% 0,00%

In the calculations, made as of 31 March 2019, the provision for DH1 product was higher than
required, therefore, the actuary proposed a 0% risk premium for the second semester for the year
2009. The risk premium is determined based on the provision portfolio in accordance with
Hungarian accounting rules.

Higher provision was caused by the following factors:

e The price of terminated contracts, that were handed over to MKK, was not known at the
non-routine pricing process. Based on available information, the Company determined its
required reverse level based on a pessimistic scenario (where the price of those contracts
that were terminated before 2013 was 0). However, the optimistic scenario was approved
for the final contract.

e The constant growth in real wage during recent years has been higher than all optimistic
values in the model, and the repayment rate has improved also significantly.

5.1.4. Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will be unable to meet its payment obligations on time.

In relation to the financing of the student loan system and during the portfolio management of the
debt there is also the “renewal risk”, which is derived from the availability of funds required to
repay maturing loans and bonds. Renewal risk that is not managed appropriately can easily result
in liquidity problems, but it also implies an interest risk in cases where the financing becomes
exposed to an asset or financial partner.

Management of liquidity risk

For liquidity equalisation purposes the Company has employed stand-by credit facility agreements
for many years, where the amounts are determined to ensure sufficient security for likely situations.
Aside from the purposes mentioned, the stand-by credit also enhances the security of financing,
since if planned funds are not raised because of some market event, a flexible and suitable size of
stand-by credit facility can offer a temporary solution and lower the liquidity risk.

Liquidity risk is an important consideration when selecting the term of funding raised; this is why
the Company strives to match the term of its funds to the long expected average term of the assets,
i.e. the student loans, as well as to lower the renewal risk and make the maturity profile of Diakhitel
Ko6zpont's funds as even as possible.

The following table breaks down the expected contractual cash flows of financial assets and
liabilities by maturity:
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. Between 3
Liquidity risk Book value Expected cash P ® months and 1 LRt Beyond 3 years
NMows month months years
years
31.12.2019
Cash and cash equivalents 290 0 o} o] 4] ¢} 0
Student loans 199 499 267 939 1902 3835 18135 99343 144 724
Insurance premium receivables 1047 1297 10 21 96 485 685
Other financial receivables 326 326 276 0 2 48 0
Non-derivative financlal llabllities
Loans and advances from banks -171 239 -181797 -1354 -2784 -9418 -138 747 -29494
Other financial liabilities -167 -167 -144 -23 0 0 0
Issued bonds -11281 -11 385 ] 0 -11 385 0 0
Lease liabilities -475 -503 -10 -19 -86 -388 0
18 000 75710 680 1030 -2 656 -39 259 115915
M Py . Expected within 1 Between 1-3 Between 3 Between 1-5 Beyond 5
Liquidity risk Book value months and 1
cash flows month months years years
years
31.12.2018
Cash and cash equivalents 478 o] 0 0 0 0 0
Student loans 220325 273138 10558 4242 19 257 99 406 139675
Insurance premium receivables 1345 1560 71 26 118 570 775
Other financial receivables 305 305 254 0 2 4 45
Non-derlvative financlal llabllities
Loans and advances from banks -191 554 -206 265 -242 -2833 -79 728 -86 607 -36 855
Other financial liabilities -148 -148 -138 -10 0 [o] 0
Issued bonds -11 447 -11770 0 8] -385 -11 385 0
19 304 56 820 10503 1425 -60 736 1988 103 640

The above expected cash flows were determined by the Company taking into account future
principal receivables and liabilities arising from the contract of the individual financial instruments
for the remaining term, and the undiscounted cash flows caused by interest and other fees.

The table shows the expected cash flows of Didkhitel Kozpont as derived from the Company's
current contracts. Since the Company can generally use shorter-term funds to finance the student
loans extended for an average of 15-20 years that are repaid in proportion to incomes and which
make up the majority of the asset side of its balance sheet, the net cash flow calculated from the
above may turn negative in the short term. However, the Company's market-based financing has
been stable in the last few years; this is set up with the professional support of the Government
Debt Management Agency and approved by the Owner and the Minister of Finance.

5.1.5. Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates (interest rate risk), prices
(price risk) and exchange rates (currency risk) will influence the Company's profit or loss or the
value of its financial instruments.

Management of market risks

Due to the special rules on student loans and Diakhitel Kozpont (such as the method for setting
interest) there is no interest risk affecting the Company's profit or loss, as the interest risks must be
passed on to clients. Classical credit institution operations and risk management require duration
matching of assets and liabilities to enable the two sides of the balance sheet to react in identical
ways to market yield fluctuations and thus to ensure that interest margins remain mostly unchanged
so the institution can protect itself against interest rate risk by adjusting the balance sheet structure.
Based on this principle Didkhitel Kozpont should create a weighted combination of several
financing instruments on the liabilities side as well to reflect the short-term, half-year and from
then on continuously decreasing duration (i.e. re-pricing every six months) of the student loans (the
Company’s assets), since it cannot change duration on the asset side of the balance sheet (this
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would only be possible by significantly changing the terms and conditions of the student loans as
products). Such financing, however, would result in the overwhelming dominance of floating-rate
financial instruments with highly negative consequences, and large-scale volatility in the interest
rate of student loans. In addition, this is also technically difficult to execute given that in classical
banking practice there are a number of instruments on both the asset and the liabilities sides for
duration matching, which are not available or not suitable for the Company.

For managing interest and exchange rate risks the Company can basically alter the ratio of fixed
and floating-rate debt instruments and select the duration of assets used. The Company adjusts its
structure of liabilities so that student loan interest can be reduced while decreasing yields, but
restricts the scope for unexpected sudden market yield increases appearing in student loan interest.
Based on public debt management experience, the Company’s financing strategy determines the
development of the fixed/floating ratio depending on market opportunities with the professional
support of Government Debt Management Agency (AKK), taking into account the characteristics
of liabilities with different interest rates and durations, their market availability and their interest
sensitivity.

The following table displays the exposure to interest rate risk under IFRS at the end of the reporting
periods:

Interest rate risk 31.12.2019 SlAs2 NS

restated
Fixed interest 4 3
Floating interest 200 549 221674
Interest-bearing assets 200 553 221 677
Fixed interest -114 292 -86 135
Floating interest -68 228 -116 866
Interest-bearing liabilities -182 520 -203 001

A change of 50 basis points in the HUF interest and a change of 10 basis points in the EUR interest
would have the following effect on the profit or loss and equity of the Company.

31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Cash flow sensitivity Growth rate
(basis points)

Growth rate

Equity Profit (basis points)

Equity Profit

Floating-interest instruments

(HUF) 50 815 815 50 891 891
Floating-interest instruments

(EUR) 10 -38 -38 10 -38 -38
Cash flow sensitivity, net 777 777 853 853

Currency risk can arise from exchange rate swings for the forint and the euro and between various
foreign currencies. However, at the time the financial statements were prepared Diakhitel Kozpont
had no assets or liabilities denominated in foreign currency.
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5.1.6. Prepayment risk

Prepayment risk is the risk that Diakhitel Kozpont Zrt. incurs losses because clients pay their loans
back in part or in full prior to the contractual maturity date.

The large repayment sums owing to the high willingness to prepay seem beneficial from a financing
and cash flow perspective as they promote complete self-financing as quickly as possible.
Nevertheless, from the perspective of spreading credit losses they are not so beneficial, since the —
presumably — highly solvent borrowers willing to pay are removed from the risk pool more quickly,
and so the interest element of the risk premium designed to cover the expected credit losses of the
entire pool is also paid by them for a shorter period. The Company currently manages this risk by
integrating expected prepayments into the model applied for estimating the risk premium and
reserves. There are no other measures — penalty fees, time restrictions — applied for prepayments.

6. Capital management

Didkhitel K6zpont Zrt. is engaged in “other lending”, which it performs as a business organisation
under the applicable government decree, and apart from some minor exceptions it is not within the
scope of the Act on Credit Institutions and Financial Enterprises. Consequently, the Company is
not governed by the National Bank of Hungary and the capital requirements set for institutions
carrying out financial activities do not apply to the Company. For this reason, the Company's capital
resources are relatively low compared to the financial sector. The Company complies with the
capital requirements for business organisations, which state that the share capital of companies
limited by shares may not be less than HUF 5 million. (Section 3:212 of Act V of 2013.)§)

7. Fair values of financial instruments

The accounting policies and disclosures of the Company require measurement of fair values for
financial assets and liabilities. In the reporting period the Company had no financial assets and
liabilities measured at fair value.

Fair value is the amount for which assets are sold, liabilities are settled in an arm’s length
transaction between knowledgeable parties.

In the case of an active market, fair values of assets and liabilities are measured based on available
quoted prices (Level 1). If no uncontrolled prices are available, the fair value is determined using
valuation techniques that use observable market data. Such techniques include for example
comparison with similar instruments for which observable market prices exist, discounted cash
flow models, option pricing models and other valuation techniques generally used by other market
participants (Level 2). For financial instruments it is possible that fair values are determined fully
or in part by using valuation techniques that use assumptions not supported by prices from current
market transactions or by observable market data (Level 3).

Changes in fair value hierarchy

The classification of financial instruments into the fair value hierarchy is not static. Change could
be necessary to make in the classification due to various reasons, such as:

- Market changes: The market may become inactive. As a result, input parameters
previously observed in the market may become unobservable parameters (possible
transition from level 1 to level 2 and 3).
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- Model change: The application of a new model that is more sophisticated, which takes
into account more observable input factors in the market and reduces the impact of
unobservable inputs (possible transition from level 3 to level 2).

- Sensitivity change: The sensitivity of the total fair value to valuation input parameters
can change over time

- The effect of an input parameter can become significant or even insignificant. The
classification of fair value hierarchy may vary from Level 3 to Level 2 because of that,

- or conversely, from Level 2 to Level 3.

Changing market conditions, modernised models and sensitivity input factors should take into
consideration during the fair value classification of financial assets. Due to this, fair value
classification should be reviewed regularly.

Fair values for each financial instrument category have been determined using the following
methods.

Cash and cash equivalents
For cash and cash equivalents carrying amounts approximate well the fair values of the assets.
Student loans and insurance premium receivables

Since there is no product on the market that is comparable with student loans, and since the
Company passes on the entire cost of the funds sourced on the money and capital markets to clients,
including the risk and operating premiums, in these financial statements we assume in respect of
the student loans and insurance premium receivables that their carrying amounts are a suitable
approximate estimate for their fair values. This assumption is backed up by the fact that the
contracts are re-priced on a six-monthly basis.

Other receivables and other liabilities

As other receivables and other liabilities are current items, their carrying amounts well reflect the
fair values of the assets and liabilities.

Liabilities to credit institutions

The fair value of the loans was calculated at a discounted rate based on the yields on the HUF
market as of 31 December 2018 and the average premium calculated based on reference
government securities during the Company’s bond issues. Discountable cash flow elements for
floating-rate forint instruments were estimated based on forward yields calculated from 3-month
forint swap yield curves on Reuters, and the own contractual interest premium on individual loans
and instalments. In the case of MFB loans bearing interest on a EURIBOR basis, discountable cash
flow elements were estimated based on forward yields calculated from 3-month euro swap yield
curves on Reuters and the own contractual interest premium on the loan. The fair value of loans
differs from their carrying amount.

Issued bonds

The bonds issued publicly by the Company bear fixed interest. All of the bond series have the same
conditions as a benchmark government bond series (interest, maturity) for easier comparisons and
to facilitate pricing, yet their market is still significantly less liquid relative to the market for
government securities. For this reason the Company calculates the fair value of bonds by comparing
the yield of the last transaction prior to the given date with the yield for the benchmark government
security at the same time, and then after adding the yield premium calculated in this way to the
yield of the benchmark government security valid when the fair value was calculated, this yield is
used to discount the expected cash flows of the given bond series.
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The following table shows the fair values of the Company's financial asscts and financial liabilities
calculated as described above, compared with their carrying amounts at the end of the individual

reporting periods:

Fair value of financial instruments

Instruments measured at amortized cost

Total book value

31.12.2019

Total fair value

Cash and cash equivalents 290 290
Student loans 199 499 199 499
Insurance premium receivables 1047 1047
Other financial receivables 326 326
Total financial assets 201 162 201 162
Loans and advances from banks 171 239 174 668
Other financial liabilities 167 167
Issued bonds 11281 11382
Total financial liabilities 182 687 186 217
31.12.2018
restated
Instruments measured at amortized cost rtg:;:}iﬁ::; Total fair value
Cash and cash equivalents 478 478
Student loans 220 325 220325
Insurance premium receivables 1345 1345
Other financial receivables 305 305
Total financial assets 222 453 222 453
Loans and advances from banks 191 554 192 961
Other financial liabilities 148 148
Issued bonds 11447 11643
Total financial liabilities 203 149 204 752
Fair value hierarchy
31.12.2019
Book value Fair value Levell Level2 Level 3
Assets
Assets presented at fair value 201 162 201 162 290 0 200872
Bank deposits, cash 290 290 290 0 0
Student loans 199 499 199 499 0 0 199499
Insurance premium receivables 1047 1047 0 0 1047
Other financial receivables 326 326 0 326
Liabilities
Liabilities presented at fair value 182 687 186 217 0 11382 174835
Liabilities to credit institutions 171 239 174 668 0 0 174668
Other financial liabilities 167 167 0 0 167
Issued bonds 11281 11382 0 11382 0

54/80



DIAKHI{{AL

Didkhitel Kozpont Zrt.
Notes to the Financial Statements
Data in HUF million

31.12.2018 restated

Book value  Fair value Level 1 Level2 Level 3

Assets

Assets presented at fair value 222 453 222 453 478 0 221975
Bank deposits, cash 478 478 478 0 0
Student loans 220325 220325 0 0 220325
Insurance premium receivables 1345 1345 0 0 1345
Other financial receivables 305 305 0 0 305
Liabilities

Liabilities presented at fair value 203 149 204 752 0 11643 193109
Liabilities to credit institutions 191 554 192 961 0 0 192961
Other financial liabilities 148 148 0 0 148
Issued bonds 11 447 11643 0 11643 0

8. Interest income and interest expense

Interest income and interest expense of financial assets measured at amortised cost is presented in
the following table:

Interest income 2019 2018
Student loan interest income* 4 454 6 018
Total 4 454 6 018

* Includes interest components of student loans related to the loan component.

Interest expense 2019 2018
Bond interest 218 442
Interest on long-term loans 3603 3678
EIB loan interest 1758 1725
MFB loan interest 1845 1946
Savings bank loan interest 0 7
Stand-by loan interest 2 1
MKB loan interest rate 0 1
Granit Bank loan interest rate 2 0
Interest on leased assets 13 0
Total 3836 4121
Net interest income 618 1897
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The breakdown of student loan interest income is illustrated in the following tables:

Details of student loan interest

income
Language
31 December 2019 student = otudent Leagrnil%g Total
loan 1 loan 2
Student Loan

Student loan interest income received 2 828 4 0 2832
-Interest income on cost of funds 1023 0 0 1023
-Interest income on risk premium 195 0 0 195
-Interest income on operating expenses 1499 0 0 1499
-Default interest 111 4 0 115
Student loan interest accrued due to
capitalisation 910 3 1 913
-Interest income on cost of funds 330 0 1 330
-Interest income on risk premium 100 0 0 100
-Interest income on operating expenses 478 0 0 478
-Default interest 2 3 0 5
State targeted interest subsidies* 221 961 0 1182
-Interest income on cost of funds 83 256 0 339
-Interest income on risk premium 121 375 0 496
-Interest income on operating expenses 17 330 0 347
Amount transferred from interest
income to insurance premium income -313 -72 0 -385
STAGE 3 not eligible interest income -87 -1 0 -88
Total 3559 895 1 4454

56/80



DIAKHI{EL

Didkhitel Kozpont Zrt.

Notes to the Financial Statements

Data in HUF million
31 December 2018 Student SEudent Total

Loan 1 Loan 2
Student loan interest income* 3257 0 3257
-Interest income on cost on funds 1106 0 1106
-Interest income on risk premium 816 0 816
-Interest income on operating expenses 1335 0 1335
Student loan interest accrued due to capitalisation* 1170 0 1170
-Interest income on cost on funds 427 0 427
-Interest income on risk premium 272 0 272
-Interest income on operating expenses 471 0 471
State targeted interest subsidies* 245 945 1190
-Interest income on cost on funds 83 223 306
-Interest income on risk premium 101 315 416
-Interest income on operating expenses 61 407 468
Amount transferred from interest income to insurance -431 -56 -487
premium income

Student loan default interest* 877 11 888
Total 5118 900 6 018

* In 2018, overdue interest income includes the amount of interest income actually received in connection with impaired student loans.

9. Insurance premium income

Based on the calculation of the actuarial model, the Company calculates insurance premium income
using the distribution ratio of risk premium elements, that is, it multiplies the amount of the risk
premiums and operating premiums for the period with the insurance risk ratio. The distribution of
risks is detailed in Note 5.1.3.

Insurance premium income 2019 2018
Student Student Ii““%“flg: Total Student Student Total
Loan 1 Loan 2 carning ot Loan 1 Loan 2 ot
Student Loan
Period risk premium 416 375 0 791 1189 315 1504
Period operating premium 1994 330 0 2324 1867 407 2274
Total premiums 2410 705 0 3115 3056 722 3778
Calculated premium income 313 72 0 385 431 56 487
STAGE 3 not eligible preium income -7 [ 0 -7 0 0 0
Of which: premium income 306 72 0 378 431 56 a87
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10. Claim expenses
Claim expenses 2019 2018
Student Student II:nugu'age Total Student Student Total
arning fi 3
Laan 1 Loan 2 earning Sl Loan 1 Loan 2 o
Student Loan
Loans written off due to death 82 10 0] 92 142 4 146
Loans written off due to disability 35 6 0 41 17 1 18
Total 117 16 0 133 159 5 164

The assumptions on morbidity and mortality are reviewed during every pricing, and modifying
factors are defined based on the data of previous years.
Estimated expenses incurred as a result of losses and the actual losses are shown in the table below:

Student Loan 1 Student Loan 2
- Loans written off | Loans written off | Loans written off | Loans written off
) due to death due to disability due to death due to disability
estimated actual|estimated| actual| estimated| actual| estimated| actual
2019 123 82 164 35 12 10 13 6
2018 133 142 200 17 11 4 16 1

11. Net trading result

The result from the repurchase of bonds issued by the Student Loan is presented as net trading

income.

In 2018 and 2019, the Company did not repurchase bonds.

12.0ther operating income and expenses

Other operating income
Sale of intangible assets and PPE
Income from forgiven receivables
Other

Total

Other operating costs, expenses

Material costs
Services used
Other services
Wage cost
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Other staff benefits 283 252
Social security contributions 197 200
Depreciation 276 129
Definitive liquid asset transfers 14 15
Other 32 2
Total 2543 2510

13. Derecognition of assets measured at amortized cost

The loss on derecognition of assets measured at amortized cost is shown in the table below. The
rules for the derecognition are detailed in Chapter 5.1.2.

2019

Transactions Student Loan 1 Student Loan 2 Total
Value of gross receivable 25571 440 26011
Impairment derecognition -16 523 -191 -16 714
Net value of receivable 9048 249 9297
Sales revenue of sold loan receivables 9 006 244 9250
Result 42 5 47
Other write offs Student Loan 1 Student Loan 2 Total
Value of gross receivable 1 0 1
Result 1 0 1
Loss on derecognized transactions 43 5 48
2018

Other write offs Student Loan 1  Student Loan 2 Total
Value of gross receivable 46 0 46
Loss on derecognized transactions 46 0 46
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14.Tax expense, income

Based on Section 19 of Act LXXXI of 1996 effective from 1 January 2017 “the corporate tax rate is
9% of the positive tax base”.

The following table summarises tax rates effective in the periods presented:

Corporate income tax rates of the Company 2019 2018
Corporate tax 9% 9%
Corporate tax rate 9% 9%

The reconciliation between the expected tax based on the accounting (book) result and the
actually paid tax by the Company is presented below:

Corporate tax expense in reporting year 2019 2018
Corporate tax expense in reporting year 1 1
Total corporate tax expense in reporting year 1 1
Deferred tax income 2019 2018

restated
Occurrence and reversal of temporary differences -75 5
Total deferred tax income -75 5
Total corporate tax -74 6

The deduction of the effective tax rate is shown in the table below:

Breakdown of effective tax rate 2019 2018 restated
Period result -760 42
Corporate tax income 74 -6
Profit/loss before tax -834 48
Expected corporate tax based on tax rate 75 -4
Non-deductible expenses -2 -1
Corporate tax payable 1 1
Unrecognised changes in temporary differences 0 -2
Tax income 74 -6
Profit/loss before tax -834 48
Tax revenue/expenditure 74 -6
Effective tax rate % 8,9% 12,5%
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15.Assets and liabilities by maturity
31.12.2019 31,12.2018 restated
EAssEly by maturity _ Curent Non-cumrent Total __ Current Non-current Total
Cash and cash ag 290 n 250 477 1 a78
Studont foans 23205 176294 199499 39 283 181042 220325
Insurance pramium receivables 134 913 1047 262 1083 1345
Current tak assets 1 4 [ al 3 0 5
Othet recolvaliles 296 48 ELL) 304 49 353
4 0 4 4 0 4
Tangliblo assets 0 142 142 0 182 182
intangible assets [ 137 337 0 318 318
Lirase asails 9 468 468 a i) 0
Tatal 23933 178 202 202135 a0 335 182 675 223010
R 31122010 _ 31,12,2018 restated _|
Liabilities bymatusity Current Nan-current Total Current Non-cument Total
Liabilities to aredit institutions 11453 159 786 171239 79 856 111698 191554
Other iti 399 [ 399 430 0 430
Provision 0 99 99 0 258 258
Issued bonds 11281 0 11281 0 11447 11447
rechnicai reserves 184 2969 3153 170 2826 2996
Lease liablliti 26 449 475 0 [ 0
Deferred tax liabllitles 0 1183 1189 0 1265 1265
Total 23323 164 492 187 835 B0 456 127 494 207 950
.
16. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents 2019 2018
Bank deposits 290 477
Restricted-use cash 0 1
Total 290 478

The coverage for bank card use is recognised under restricted cash.

17.Student loans and insurance premium receivables

Student loan contracts, which are provided by Diakhitel Kozpont Zrt., comprise a loan and an
insurance component, which are presented separately in the Statement of financial position.

Information on student loan portfolio and insurance premium receivables is presented in Note 5.1.2
and the tables in Note 5.1.3.

The Company currently offers three products to its customers.

Student Loan 1

Student Loan 1 is a personal loan, where the maximum disbursable amount is regulated by
government decree. The disbursement of the personal loan can be requested in monthly instalments
or in one amount per academic semester.

The disbursement of Student Loan 1 has started in October 2001. First applicants started to repay
Student Loan 1 on January 1, 2003 while income-based repayments started in 2005.

Since the foundation of the Company, 367,123 people (2018: 362,486 people) have requested
student loans approximately in amount of HUF 315.0 billion.
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The borrower shall pay the repayment for twelve times the amount of the minimum wage valid
on 31 October of the year preceding the year in which the repayment obligation arose and the
year following the year in which the repayment obligation arose.

The repayment instalment in the second year since the start of the repayment obligation—
according to the terms and conditions set forth in the Decree — amounts to 1/12 of 6% of the
income earned in the second year prior to the payment year, or, for students borrowing the
highest amounts for fee-paying tuition from the 2006/2007 academic year, 1/12 of 8% or 9% of
the income. In the case of conditions defined, for a maximum 36 calendar months, the Decree
allows for the reduction of the instalment amounts, but they shall not fall below the minimum
instalment amount.

Compulsory repayment instalments:

- Minimum wage Rate of Rate of
Minimum . Rate of

Year determining the payment payment G

wage . . o payment 9%

repayment instalment 6% 8%
2018 138 000 127 500 7 650 10200 11 475
2019 149 000 138 000 8280 11040 12 420
2020 161 000 149 000 8940 11920 13 410
Student Loan 2

In the case of Student Loan 2, characterised as a fixed loan, the borrower can request the amount
corresponding to the tuition fee to be paid to the university or college per semester, furthermore
the loan can be requested for foreign language bachelor’s and master’s programs tuition fees when
curriculums and the program itself were established in Hungarian. The borrower can request the
fixed loan in one amount or in several instalments, paid in every academic semester.

The initial application date for Student loan 2 was August 15, 2012, and the first disbursement was
successfully completed on 15 October.

Since the start of the first applications in 2012, a total of 42,233 people (2018: 35,857) have
received student loans in nearly HUF 41 billion amount in 2019.

In the year the repayment obligation arises and in the following year, borrowers with a repayment
obligation shall pay instalments calculated based on twelve-fold the prevailing minimum wage as
of 31 October of the previous year in respect of the year when the repayment obligation arose. The
repayment instalment for student loans in the second year after the repayment commences —
according to the terms and conditions set forth in the Decree — is defined based on the income
earned in the second year prior to the current year.

The repayment instalment depends on the loan debt at the onset of the repayment liability but is at
least 4% thereof. Didkhitel Kozpont is obliged to disclose repayment rates pertaining to entire
individual loan debts in accordance with the law, as shown in the table below.
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Amount of debt on the
date when repayment Repayment rate %
obligation starts

0 - 1000000 Ft 4%
1.000.001- 2.000.000 Ft 5%
2.000.001- 3.000.000 Ft 7%
3.000.001- 4.000.000 Ft 9%
4.000.001-30.000.000 Ft 11%

Language Learning Student Loan

A student with an active or suspended status or a student who has obtained a final certificate at a
higher education institution but does not have his or her diploma yet due to the absence of the
required language exam may apply for a student loan from Diakhitel K6zpont Zrt. The maximum
amount to be requested is HUF 500,000.

Until 31 December 2021, the interest rate of the Language Learning student loan will be the same
as the interest rate set for Student Loan 1, furthermore, the interest rate elements in case of
Language Learning Student Loan will be concurred to Student loan 1 elements.

The initial application date of Language Learning Student loan was October 1,2019, while the first
disbursement was successfully carried out on October 15.

From October 1, 2019, Language Learing Student Loan was disbursed in a total amount of HUF
0.3 billion to 692 students.

Repayment of the language student loan must begin 12 months after disbursement in equal monthly
instalments. The repayment period can be chosen by the borrower at the time of contracting;
repayment period is a minimum of 1-year and a maximum of 5-year period.

18.0ther receivables

Other receivables

Description 2019 2018
Other financial receivables 326 305
Loans disbursed to employees 7 7
Security deposit 43 44
Subsidised interest request 276 254
Other receivables 18 48
Prepaid expenses, accrued income 15 46
Other tax receivables 2 2
Other receivables 1 0
Total other receivables 344 353
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19.0ther assets

Other assets include inventories for marketing purposes, which the Company purchases for the
purpose of distributing promotional gifts to customers.

The book value of advertising gifts is HUF 4 million in 2019 and 2018 as well.

20.Tangible assets

In the case of rights and concessions related to property the Company has limited ownership rights.

Rights and Technical .
5 g g ) . Other equipment. Assets under
Changes in tangible assets concessions related equipment, . . Total
fittings construction
to property machinery. vehicles
Gross value, 1 January 2018 58 421 82 88 649
Additions 0 57 13 223 293
Disposals -1 -10 -7 -282 -300
Gross value, 31 December 2018 57 468 88 29 642
Opening gross value at 1 January 2019 0 0 0 0
Additions 8 53 4 162 227
Disposals - -38 -39 -151 -296
Gross value, 31 December 2019 57 463 53 0 573
Act lated depreciation, 1 January 2018 13 346 70 0 429
Depreciation 3 41 5 0 49
Disposals -1 -10 Z 0 -18
Acc lated depreciation, 31 December 2013 15 377 68 0 460
Depreciation 4 59 4 0 67
Disposals -2 -56 -38 0 -96
A lated depreciation, 31 D ber 2019 17 380 34 [ 431
Net value, 1 January 2018 a5 75 12 88 220
Net value, 31 December 2018 42 91 20 29 182
Net value, 31 December 2019 40 83 19 0 142
. ) . R1g!1t5 and Technical Other equipment,
Gross value of tangible assets in use wri concessions related equipment, P Total
to property machinerv, vehicles nd
31.12.2018 2 278 56 336
31.12.2019 2 285 22 309
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21. Intangible assets
The Company has no assets the ownership right of which is limited.
. . Rights and  Intellectual I
Changes in intangible assets . intangible
concessions property
assets
Gross value
Gross value, 1 January 2018 1355 5 1360
Additions 199 12 211
Disposals -1 0 -1
Gross value, 31 December 2018 1553 17 1570
Additions 127 0 127
Disposals -16 0 -16
Gross value, 31 December 2019 1664 17 1681
Accumulated depreciation, 1 January 2018 1170 4 1174
Depreciation 78 1 79
Disposals -1 0 -1
Accumulated depreciation, 31 December
2018 1247 5 1252
Depreciation 105 3 108
Disposals -16 0 -16
Accumulated depreciation, 31 December
2019 1336 8 1344
Net value, 1 January 2018 185 1 186
Net value, 31 December 2018 306 12 318
Net value, 31 December 2019 328 9 337
Rights and Intellectual
. . . concessions property Total
Gross value of intangible assets in use . - with . .
i d with unlimited unlimited intangible
written down to zero ownership . Mects
, ownership
rights :
rights
31-Dec-2018 1076 S 1081
31-Dec-2019 1119 5 1124
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22. Right-of-use leasing assets

After adopting IFRS 16, the Company recognized lease liabilities for contracts that were classified
as ‘operating leases’ in accordance with IAS 17.

The fair value of lease liabilities is the present value of the remaining lease payments discounted
at the incremental borrowing interest rate as of January 1, 2019.

The weighted average incremental lessee interest rate on lease liabilities was 2.859% on 1 January

2019.

Leased technical

Changes in leasing assets pl;sgs;(tly equipment, Total
machinery, vehicles

Gross value, 31 December 2018 0 0 0
Gross amended values, 01 January 2019 535 0 535
Additions 2 32 34
Gross value, 31 December 2019 537 32 569
Accumulated depreciation, 31 December

2018 0 0 0
Gross amended values, 01 January 2019 0 0 0
Depreciation 99 2 101
Accumulated depreciation, 31 December

2019 99 2 101
Net value, 31 December 2018 0 0 0
Net value, 01 January 2019 535 0 535
Net value, 31 December 2019 438 30 468
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23. Deferred tax assets and tax liabilities

31.12.2019 31.12.2018 restated
Deferred tax o

Tax asset Tax liability Net balance Tax assef Tax liability Nef balance
Property, plant and equipment 3 0 3 3 Q 3
Leased assets 0 -42 -42 0 0 0
Receivables, loans disbursed 1203 -94 1109 2519 -121 2398
Prepaid expenses, accrued income 44 o] 44 25 0 25
Provisions [} -2438 -2 438 0 -3600 -3 600
Technical reserve 284 0 284 270 0 270
Long-term liabilities 25 0 25 40 -79 -39
Leasing liabilities 43 0 43 0 0 0
Accrued expenses, deferred income 0 -217 -217 0 -322 -322
Tax receivables (tax llabilities) 1602 -2791 -1189 2 857 -4 122 -1265
Tax assets not taken into account 0 0 0 0 0 0
Total tax assets (tax liabilities) 1602 -2791 -1189 2857 -4122 -1265

Changes in the tax effect of temporary differences are presented in the tables below:

Changes in tax effect on
temporary differences 31
December 2019

Property, plant and equipment
Leased assets

Receivables, loans disbursed
Prepaid expenses, accrued income
Provisions

Technical reserve

Long-term liakilities
Leasing liabilities

Accrued expenses, deferred income
Total

Restated changes in tax effect on

temporary differences 31
December 2018

Property, plant and equipment
Receivables, loans disbursed
Prepaid expenses, accrued income
Provisions

Technical reserve

Long-term liabilities

Accrued expenses, deferred income
Total

Opening balance
at 1 Fanuary

Recognized in profit
or loss for the

Closing balance at
31 December

period
3 0 3
0 -42 -42
2358 -1289 1109
25 15 44
-3 600 1162 -2438
270 14 284
-39 64 25
0 43 43
-322 105 -217
-1 265 76 -1189

Opening balance
at 1 Fanuary

Recognized in profit
or loss for the

Closing balance at
31 December

period
3 0 3
3045 -647 2338
221 -196 25
-3 736 136 -3 600
359 -89 270
-83 44 -39
-429 107 -322
-620 -645 -1265
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24. Liabilities to credit institutions

& . : Lean Carrving Lany i Canrying
Name of credit institution P of Loterestrate 2 T Alnturiy Currency amount amcuut amsuut 41"]1“& nmo}lut:
intere:t dnte date diffarence
3318 1018
[uropean Invesunent Bank Moating=ate  [BVSER 12.19.2005 1HUF 34 30 279 274
Furopean investnent Bank floateg raee DB VSFR E2 012006 HuF 133 133 Eing 458
furopesn mveabnent Bank Neatingeate DB VSFR 11042006 HUF s 15 345 EEI
Luropean Invistment Bank ligating rate [ WSFR 0082006 laniagzy HUF 225 225 375 374
Cutogean Investrnent Gank lisatingrate  HOVSFR 13.11 2346 | 15222421 HUF 42 4 e 03
Luropean ovestinent Bank ligating rate 08 VSER 12.12.2006 15832021 HUF 435 415 725 125
Edrapean v inen | Bank [ERTI- R R 12.03.2007 15033121 HuF 302 Kl 459 454
Luragean Investrment Bank Pomingrate DI VSFA 13062007 15.02.2021 HuF asa 354 1208 L2
vestrnent Bank Negtingrate [0 VSFR 11.16.2007 15032022 HUF 1323 1329 1399 L339
rapeat v et Bank leaingrate DO VSFR 17472004 15032023 {IuF 1 eag 17350 2250 2250
European ivatment Bank Poating rat= {4 VSR 08.08.2¢08 15032023 fiuF 1 2o 143 1aag Laas
Europoan inweatmemt Bank ligating rate IM BUBOR-G.A55% 11122004 158462021 HUF 44645 445 455 455
[uropean brvesunent Bank Poaungrate IMBUBOR-O.330%  [103.2099 1534.2923 HUF 2130 2 las 273G 2733
repean invesunent Bank Toatingrate [ VSFR 10.08.2809 laniad24 HuF 1475 1379 19328 1925
el Hvestinent Bank LIB VSFR 15.12.2009 la04a.3023 HUF 43 742 b 353
Lusapeat nviattinent Bank Dgating rate LB VSFR 10032018 1509.2039 {HLF 1255 L2350 504 1502
Earopaan vaunest Bank laeed rate  2337% 19082010 2025 HUF 1435 3711 413635 4133
Curopean investmeni Bank Paatngrate  IM BUBCR-0.246%  13.10.2010 g5 huF IF31 1925 2275 20k
st Inves et Dank Paarngeate  IM BUBOR-C.246% 13122010 (3 (FUF 2403 2408 21N 2173
L: at Investmant Bank et rate G236% 93432411 525 HUF 1ang LAcs 21ad 2103
Lurupentt investmant Bamk liwed rate 5.803% 21842011 323 HUF 3302 3139 333d 313844
futogem Investmemt Sani lived rate 457N 12162011 G5 HuF 2465 24673 3070 Jcaa
an Iav=s bnent Bank I rate 64715 432012 526 HUF 1754 1755 2000 2445
Europaan inveatmani Bank fived rate G534 11862012 2024 HUF ER 138462 ER Lt 1413
[urapean i tnant Bank fioat g e IM BUBCR-C.58% 18102412 2027 {IUF 2210 2254 2R 2553
farogean vesinant Bank lineed rate 4.746% 11422013 2027 HUF 2404 24ada 2289 2255
an Inveaimont Bonk lloating rate  IM BUBOR=D,161% 11102013 2523 huF 1252 1782 133g 1342
an Inves tenon g Bank lisatingeate IMDUBOR-G.161% 11002013 2023 HUF 13530 1350 1 5ad 15833
furopean Mrventment Bank loatmgrale IV BUBOR-0.104% 11022014 2029 HUF 213ag 21341 2 4010 2403
furapean tremumen | Bank Fiuged s 298%|1.224%; 13.10.2014 2029 HuF 40324 G037 4020 4aar
Europim Ivesbnent Bank lined rte 298%|1.224%)* 13102014 2029 HUF 1575 1575 1733 1755
Larapaan brvesteran s Bank lined rte 2.561% 184682015 203 IuF 130 1541 14an 140
Lasopen iestnent Band logingrate IM BUBOR-C.LLI% 13102015 25313 HUF 1932 3302 1309 ER
Furopaan Imvsstment Bank Nostingrate. IM BUBOR-G.736% 21.422016 203l HGF 2aaa 2931 2800 a0
Eurzpean mvatpant Bank lined rate  1326% LL19.2417 2332 Hur 2452 2352 2453 24352
Lurapean Iremuren Bank 1730% 21062018 2023 HUF 1402 3493 3400 3403
Curopem Imvavnent Bank 2315 12032013 233 HUF 446 L4538
Eursdean Irveabient Bank 2853% 16.1L2018 2333 HUF 4343 33546 4 A0 4994
Hungarian Dovelsgmeny fank | Dootingeate IN [UABOR-12% 31122014 2312 HUF 3 o 45000 4593 3lla
Hungaran Dovidoprrent Bank | liwed rate 1.196% 21122016 | 24062018 HUF a 2 23803 2012
Hongarian Doveloprmant Bank | Noatingrat= IM DUBSH-0 51% 254072617 | 25472021 HUF 13937 15744 13 0aa 12413
Hungarian Development Bank ned e 1340% 22.112017 26152022 HLF 12244a 124023 12400 12230
Hungaran Devedopment Bank | lloatingral= 3N BUBCR=0 53% 21062018 2las2c22 HAUF 9 100 3302 2 30T 3352
Hasgarian Devslopment Bank | lostmgrale. IM DUBOR-CA0N 21482018 | 21022322 HUF 134008 10333 13 2ad 10004
Hamgarian Development Bk | loating ¢ IM BUBOH-S 58% 24062013 24.06.27024 nuF L] 5811
liyngaran Development Bank Fixed rate  0663% 11122019 24682022 HUF 50953 50091
hagyar Tocrsibank lioatseng = IM BUBOR-D.24% 12.10.2018 09.03.2019 hur a g 225 223
Granit Sank oot rate LA BUBOR-0 (5% 03032813 13.03.2020 LUF 1335 1 33% 1] ]
[Totsl 171085 171239 192 16¢ 2590 191 554

* VSFR: variable spread floating rate = 3MBUBOR + variable spread

The interest on fixed interest rate EIB loans are fixed for a given interest period based on the terms
of the individual drawdowns. * The interest rate on the indicated loans has changed since
15.12.2019.

The Company paid all due repayment instalments in time and met the terms set forth in the loan
agreements in the periods presented
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25. Other liabilities
Other liabilities 2019 2018
Other financial liabilities 167 148
Trade payables 167 148
Other liabilities 232 282
Trade payables not invoiced 10 24
Accrued operating costs 105 149
Liabilities to student loan clients 17 12
Liabilities to employees 38 39
Other tax liabilities 62 58
Total other liabilities 399 430
26. Issued bonds
Issued bonds | Interest rate l)alf of Nirst Date (.)t‘_ Listed Nominal value |Carrving value| Nominal value [ Carrying value
issue maturity
2019 2018
DK2020/01 3,50% 14.09.2016 24.06.2020 no 11 000 11 281 11 000 11 447
Total 11000 11 281 11 000 11 447
Changes in issued bonds (at nominal value)
Date Description DK2018/01 DK2020/01 Total
01.01.2018 Opening balance 19 500 11 000 30 500
22.06.2018 maturity -19 500 0 -19 500
31.12.2018 Closing balance 0 11 000 11 000
31.12.2019 Closing balance 0 11 000 11 000

In October 2018 MFB Zrt. organised a bond swap auction, where it offered bond swap options for
holders of Diakhitel Kézpont Zrt. bonds through an MFB public bond issue. After the successful
auction, the Company and MFB Zrt. submitted a joint request for the BSE to remove the
Company’s bonds from the BSE’s product list. According to the submitted request, the Budapest
Stock Exchange removed the Company’s bonds from its product list as of 9 November 2018. The
bonds were traded for the last time at the Budapest Stock Exchange on 6 November 2018.
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27. Technical provisions
Change in the technical reserve

Student Loan1 Student Loan 2 Total
Balance at 1 January 2018 3 965 19 3984
Use of reserve -159 -5 -164
Re-measurement gain/loss -905 81 -824
Balance on 31 December 2018 2901 95 2 996
Use of reserve -117 -16 -133
Re-measurement gain/loss 207 83 290
Balance on 31 December 2019 2991 162 3153

The 'Changes in actuarial reserve' item in the statement of comprehensive income includes the
aggregate amount of the use of the reserve, release due to changes in conditions and remeasurement
gain presented in the table above.

Analysis of changes in assumptions

Amendment of 2018 year-end assumptions to 2019 year- Student Student

end assumptions step by step Loan 1 Loan 2 freil
Using 2018 assumptions to 31 December 2018 2901 95 2996
Using 2018 assumptions to 31 March 2019 2980 82 3062
2019 pricing - change of model and parameters 3316 120 3436
Using 2019 assumptions to 30 June 2019 3058 140 3198
Using 2019 assumptions to 30 September 2019 2967 175 3142
Change in interest on arrears 2960 176 3136
Change in wage inflation 2958 164 3122
Change in operating expenses 3100 152 3252
Change in cost of funds 3177 155 3332
Change in minimum wage 3036 156 3192
Change in collection rate 3022 3022
Change in model point and date 2991 162 3153
Using 2019 assumptions to 31 December 2019 2991 162 3153
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Analysis of changes in assumptions

Amendment of 2017 year-end assumptions to 2018 year-end Student Student

assumptions step by step Loanl Loan2 Sot
Using 2017 assumptions to 31 December 2017 3 965 19 3984
Using 2017 assumptions to 31 March 2018 3803 - 3803
2018 pricing - change of model and parameters 2971 -25 2 946
2018 pricing - transition to IFRS 9 calculation to 30 September 2018 3190 162 3352
Change in interest on arrears 3149 154 3303
Change in wage inflation 3171 160 3331
Change in cost of funds 2982 178 3160
Change in operating expenses 2991 175 3166
Change in minimum wage 2 840 165 3 005
Change in model point and date 2 895 94 2989
Change in collection rate 2901 95 2996
Using 2018 assumptions to 31 December 2018 2901 95 2996

28. Share capital, capital reserve and other reserves

The share capital of Didkhitel Kézpont Zrt. at the time of transition, at the end of the comparative
period and the reporting period totaled 300 subscribed and paid ordinary shares each with a nominal
value of HUF 1,000,000.

The capital reserve did not change over the periods presented and amounts to HUF 2,200 million.
The initial fair value difference of loans drawn from the Hungarian Development Bank was
recorded under other capital contributions.

2018

Equity 2019 restated
Share capital and capital reserve 2 500 2 500
Profit reserve 1767 2527
Other reserves 10033 10033
Other capital grant 10033 10033

Total equity: 14 300 15 060
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29. Contingent assets and liabilities
Description 31.12.2019 31.12.2018
Amount Maturity Amount Maturity
Credit facility open for Student Loan 1 clients 1101 15,01.2020 1108 15.01.2019
Credit facility open for Student Loan 2 clients 58 15.01.2020 61 15.01.2019
Credit facillity open for Language Learning Loan clients 23 15.01.2020 0
Contingent liability 1182 1169
EIB IV. credit facility that can be used to cover student loans 0 1675 31.12,2018
EIB V credit facility that can be used to cover student loans 11 606 31.12.2021 11289 31.12.2021
Takarékbank stand by credit facility that can be used to cover student loans 0 - 7275 08.03.2019
MKB Bank stand by credit facility that can be used to cover student loans o] - 2500 08.03.2019
Granit Bank stand by credit facility that can be used to cover studentioans 6 165 08.03.2020 0
K&H stand by credit facility that can be used to cover student loans 2500 08.03.2020 0 -
Contingent assets 11 606 22739

30. Leasing commitments
Year 2019

The Company presents its leased premises (office, warehouse, car park, bicycle storage) in
Residence office building and the liabilities arising from the lease agreements of motor vehicles
necessary for its operation as a Leasing liability in accordance with the rules of IFRS 16.

Changes in lease liabilities

2019 Residence office building Vehicles Total
Opening balance at 01 January 2019 535 0 535
Leased 2 32 34
Repayment -105 -2 -107
-Interest paid 13 0 13
Closing balance at 31 December 2019 445 30 475
Minimum leases to pay in the future:
2019 Residence office building Vehicles Total
Within 1 year 96 8 104
Beyond 1 year but within 5 years 349 22 371
Beyond 5 years 0 0 0
Total 445 30 475
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Short-term or low-value leasing transactions not presented as liabilities
e DR Site lease

The contract provides a 50% insurance on the rack cabinet located in the landlord’s machine room,
in which the tenant can place its servers. The lease agreement, which was amended several times
in 2017, was extended for another year until 30 September 2020. The lease can be terminated before
the expiry of the fixed term only in the event of a breach of contract by the landlord. The amount
of the contract is HUF 75,000 + VAT / month, the amount of the leasing fee due within 1 year is
HUF 857 thousand.

Year 2018

In 2018, the Company leased the office buildings and premises necessary for its operation within
the framework of operating leasing agreements.

Rents paid were included in other operating expenses.
The main parameters of leasing contracts:
e Kacsa street Residence office building

In the case of the contract concluded in 2014, the lease period was 5 years, which was extended by
the Company at the market price. The rent is determined in euros, which corresponds to the pricing
methods in the domestic real estate market. The Company bears the gains and losses arising from
exchange rate risk. The possibility of subletting is only possible with the approval of the lessor
according to the contract. The landlord is entitled to index the rent from 2015 using the HICP-
EU27 consumer price index.

In December 2018, an agreement was reached in renewing the leasing contract of the office
building. Following the expiration of the contract, a lease agreement for an additional five years
was signed in a smaller area with new conditions from 01.06.2019. The Company reduced the size
of the leased office space to 1710.50 m2. The rent can be indexed for the first time on January 1,
2020 based on MUICP.

Rent for year 2018.

Offices: 2368.13 m2 (14.40 EUR / m2 + VAT)
Customer service: 155.18 m2 (11.40 EUR / m2 + VAT)
Warehouse: 57.59 m2 (5.7 EUR / m2 + VAT)

Parking lot: 9 pieces (91.77 EUR / piece + VAT)
Bicycle storage: 1 pc (61.18 EUR + VAT)

e DR-Site

The contract provides a 50% insurance on the rack cabinet located in the landlord’s machine room,
in which the tenant can place its servers. The rental period applies to the periods between
01/10/2017 and 30/09/2018. The lease can be terminated before the expiry of the fixed term only
in the event of a breach of contract by the landlord. In 2018, the contract was amended, as a result
of which the lease period expires on 1 Oct 2019.

The Company restated its financial statements regarding 2018, supplementing it with the extended
lease agreement made in December 2018.
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Future minimum lease payments:
2018 restated Residence office building DR Site Total
Within 1 year 146 1 147
Beyond 1 year but within 5 years 523 0 523
Beyond 5 years 0 0 0
Total 669 1 670

31. Liabilities from financing activity

Changes in liabilities from financing activity 01.01.2019 New lease Cash-fow Amortisation 31.12.2019
Loans drawn 191554 0 -21 065 750 171239
Issued bonds 11 447 0 0 -166 11281
Liabilities related to finance leases* 535 34 -107 13 475
Total liabliities from financing activities 203 536 34 221172 597 182 995

*Leasing conversion

32. Transactions with related parties

Shareholder rights are exercised by the Hungarian Development Bank (MFB), and the beneficial
owner is the Hungarian State.

State subsidy

The Company did not receive any state subsidy during the presented periods.

Transactions with the Hungarian State and related-party companies

The company had transactions under normal market conditions with related-party companies.
Subsidies requested for Student Loan borrowers

Pursuant to the government decree on the student loan scheme (Government Decree 1/2012),
borrowers taking out any-purpose loans are entitled to claim targeted interest subsidies — during
the term of the contract — for the period of entitlement to infant care benefit, child care benefit, and

child care allowance (hereinafter: gyes) in accordance with Section 18 of the decree.

The necessary funds for the targeted interest subsidies must be provided from the budget of the
ministry headed by the minister in charge of family policy. The targeted interest subsidy is
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transferred by the ministry to the bank account of Didkhitel K6zpont indicating the name of the
entitled borrower.

Pursuant to Section 29 of Government Decree 1/2012, students taking out limited-purpose loans
are entitled to general interest subsidies for the term of the loan contract. The rate of the interest
subsidy is the amount above the interest payable by the borrower according to Section 6 (7).

The necessary funds for the general interest subsidies must be provided from the budget of the
ministry headed by the minister in charge of public finances. The monthly amount of the general
interest subsidy is transferred by the ministry to Didkhitel Kézpont based on a monthly breakdown,
indicating the name of the borrower in the month following the disbursement of the student loan.

According to Section 18/A of the government decree, female borrowers may claim government
support related to childcare on the grounds of the birth or adoption of their second, third or further
children. The childcare support may amount to 50% or 100% of the outstanding debt. The support
may be claimed on one loan only, and the borrower may choose which loan they want the support
on when claiming it.

The amount of childcare support shall be regulated in the act on public finances. The monthly
amount of the childcare support is transferred by the Hungarian State Treasury
to Didkhitel Kézpont based on a monthly breakdown indicating the name of the borrower.

Pursuant to the Government Decree 1/2012, section 23/C, the borrower of the student loan for
language learning in case of obtaining a complex language certificate at least B2 (intermediate)
level and at least 2 months after the contracting from a language which is approved by the
Hungarian state and qualifies as a supported language — in case of it has been certified -, from the
date of the notification becomes eligible for a total interest subsidy provided by the Hungarian
state.

The interest is taken over by the Hungarian state from the borrower in form of a general interest
subsidy for the remaining term, charged to the central budget. The rate of the general interest
subsidy is the same as the current interest rate of the student loan for language learning.

The amount of the interest subsidy provided by the Hungarian state shall be regulated in the act on
public finances. The monthly amount of the interest subsidy is transferred by the Hungarian State
Treasury to Diakhitel Kézpont based on a monthly breakdown indicating the name of the
borrower.

The following table shows the subsidies requested from the Hungarian State for Student Loan
customers:

Amounts claimed for student loan customers

Description 2019 2018
Targeted interest rate subsidy for Student Loan 1 clients 221 245
Child support for Student Loan 1 clients 1930 1227
General interest rate subsidy for Student Loan 2 clients 961 945
Child support for Student Loan 2 client 24 13
Total 3136 2430
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Transactions with MKK Zrt

The Company is obliged, according to Government Decree, to assign the receivables arising from
contracts which were terminated by the first day of the last month of that quarter to MKK Zrt. on
the first business day of the following quarter. The Student Loan Organization is entitled to give
the possibility of instalment payment to the borrower in the period between the contract termination
and the hand-over date.

Further information on these transactions can be found in Section 5.1.2, and derecognition process
is presented in Section 13.

Description 2019 2018
Sales revenue of sold loan receivables 9 250 0
State guarantee

The Hungarian State guarantees the value of the loans taken out by the Company to finance the
student loan, as well as the value of the issued bonds. (Additional Note 1)

The value of the State guarantee is shown in the table below:

Guarantee from Hungarian State 2019 2018
Drawn loans 171 095 192 160
Issued bonds 11000 11 000
Total 182 095 203 160

The data in the table agrees to the data presented in additional notes 21,23 (capital liabilities to
credit institutions and the nominal value of bonds issued).

Transactions with the user of Ownership rights

The transactions between Didkhitel K6zpont Zrt. and Magyar Fejlesztési Bank - as a related party
- are detailed in the table below:

Description 2019 2018
Use of services 3 3
Long-term loans taken 55 800 19 300
Long-term loans repaid 70 000 10000
Interest paid on long-term loans 1084 1014

Transactions with key executives
Executives in key positions:

e CEO
e Board members
e Members of the Supervisory Board
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Transactions with key executives 2019 2018
Short-term employee benefits 91 90
Post-employment benefits 22 0
Total 113 90

33. Subsequent events

Until the approval of Financial Statements, indicated in section 2.1, no event has occurred after
the balance sheet date that would have required a change in the Financial Statements.

Impact of COVID-19 pandemic

1.

Background, antecedent and regulatory changes relevant to DHK

The following relevant events occurred in the activities and management of the Company between
the balance sheet date and the closing date of the balance sheet.

The spread of COVID-19, which was qualified as a pandemic by WHO in March 2020, and the
related government measures taken had an impact on the operation of Didkhitel Kézpont Zrt. Due
to the government restriction, which limited the possibility of free movement, the Company has
successfully introduced remote working with minimal personal presence. As a result, the Company
managed to continue its activities without interruption. In connection with the social role of student
lending, it is also necessary to adjust operations of the Company to the current situation.

According to Government Decree 47/2020 (1I1.18) moratorium on loan payments were
introduced for the period between 18 March 2020 — 31 December 2020 to reduce the effects
caused by COVID-19 pandemic. The moratorium applies to the loans provided to students
by Didkhitel Kézpont Zrt, however, it does not apply to the liabilities in relation to
Company financing — EIB loan liabilities, bond maturity - but the Company plans to fulfil
all its obligations.

The terms and conditions of existing products have already been amended in Government
Decree 1/2012 (1. 20.) on Student Loan System, : (i) the maximum monthly amount of
Student Loan 1 from the autumn semester of 2020/2021 will increase from HUF 70,000 to
HUF 150,000; (ii) Application deadline and the deadline for request in relation to loan
amount raising have been extended; (iii) Those Student Loan 1 products can be extended
retrospectively to the autumn semester, that were requested in spring semester of
2019/2020.

As part of the Economic Protection Action Plan according to Government Decree 96/2020.
(IV.10.) on available student loan products in emergency conditions, the Company
introduced a new student loan product as of 01 May 2020, called Diakhitel Plusz. Didkhitel
Plusz is a personal loan with 0% interest rate for the client due to state interest rate subsidy.
A maximum amount of HUF 500,000 can be claimed in higher education, while HUF 1,2
million in designated model-changing (so called ‘struktiravaltd’) adult education until the
end of 2020. The loan is repayable after one year of grace period within a maximum period
of 5 years.

According to the Government Decree 1/2012. (1. 20.) and according to Government Decree
(389/2020. (VIIL8.), which is the amendment of Government decree 11/2020. (II. 7.) on
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adult education, the Company will provide vocational and adult education loans in two
forms — personal and tied loan - from April 2021 in addition to higher education student
loans.

2. Changes in core business processes and the effects of the measures taken

Management of repayment moratorium

The aim of the measure taken is to prevent mass arrears and loan failures in the financial
sector as result of declining household incomes, which were caused by the crises in several
sectors due to the pandemic situation. Outstanding debts will be due from 01 January 2021
as before, no loan will be remitted neither fully nor partially. The management of the
Company has examined and assessed the effects of above-mentioned events on the
operation, income and financial position of Didkhitel Kozpont Zrt. as follows:

e Diakhitel Kozpont Zrt. fulfils all its obligations during the moratorium period,
including student loan disbursements, operating cash flows and cash flows related
to financing. The owner of the Company is the Hungarian State, and its main
financier is Magyar Fejlesztési Bank Zrt., which has been classified as a strategic
company in the declared emergency situation. Taking into consideration the
previously mentioned facts, management ascertained that the operation and the
solvency of the Student Loan system is ensured and the principle of going concern
is not jeopardized. Based on the experience of April-July 2020, about 65% of the
customer repayments are fulfilled from the amount expected before the moratorium
was introduced.

e Asaresult of the introduction of the moratorium, the revenues of the Company - as
a result of capitalization and interest rate subsidies - are not expected to change
significantly, and its equity might be affected by impairment, for which it is still
difficult to make a reasonable estimate without knowing the willingness to repay
after the moratorium.

Introduction of new product terms

The aim of the measures is to make student loans easily and more widely available to higher
education students who are affected by the epidemic and facing financial problems as a result of
the rapidly evolving crisis situation affecting several sectors. The management of the Company
examined and evaluated the effects of the above-mentioned facts on operation, income, financial
and performance situation of Diakhitel K6zpont Zrt. The overall impact of the changes is minimal
on the core business of the Company. (The Company planned to increase the maximum disbursable
amount of the personal Student Loan 1 from the autumn semester of 2020, regardless the pandemic
and the crisis situation. The effects of the increase in disposable amount were modelled based on
the dynamics experienced during previous valorisations — taking into account new client needs and
existing client needs separately.)

Introduction of new products

The aim of Student Loan Plus, which was introduced in 2020, is clearly to make Diakhitel Kézpont
Zrt. the number one financial assistance provider institution among young people during the
economic crisis caused by the coronavirus pandemic. By immediately helping students in financial
difficulties due to the economic slowdown and the negative trend experienced in the labor market,
Didkhitel K6zpont Zrt. can do its utmost in the current situation to prevent a drastic increase in
higher education dropouts. The beneficiaries of Student Loan Plus - expected to begin in September
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2020 - include certain designated model-changing (so called ‘struktiravalt6’) adult education
students as well, who can adopt to the changes caused by the crisis by participating primary in IT-
oriented trainings. Vocational and adult education loans will be introduced in 2021, which were
not initiated as a result of COVID-109, since the preparation has already started before the pandemic,
however the past few months have influenced the process in terms of content and timing. The
management of the Company has examined and assessed the effects of above-mentioned events on
the operation, income and financial position of Diakhitel K6zpont Zrt. ss follows:

e in 2020 resource requirements due to Didkhitel Plus arose when own revenues decreased
due to the moratorium. The owner of the Company is the Hungarian State, and the main
financer is Magyar Fejlesztési Bank Zrt. which has been classified as a strategic company
in the declared emergency situation. Taking into consideration the previously mentioned
facts, management ascertained that the operation and the solvency of the Student Loan
system is ensured and the principle of going concern is not jeopardized.

e In 2020, additional funds generated by the introduction of the Student Loan Plus product
will arise at the same time as the loss of own revenues due to the repayment moratorium.
The owner of the Company is the Hungarian State, and its chief financier is Magyar
Fejlesztési Bank Zrt. From 2021, Student Loan Plus product will be ‘replaced’ by Training
Loans from 2021, but at the end of the moratorium-period, the cash flows of the company
will reach the previous magnitude.

e The business model does not change due the introduction of new products. The revenues of
the Company are expected to increase es a result of new product introductions, while equity
will not be conceptually affected by them. The long-term goal of the Company is to operate
the Hungarian Student Loan system basically on a non-profit level.

3. Financial and liquidity position of the Company

The changes that have occurred since year-end 2019 planning period proved to be an order of
magnitude, which made it necessary to amend the Company's 2020 Financial forecast.

The liquidity of the Company was ensured by the flexibility of the original budget, so the
amendment plan was submitted in May 2020, after the Company was able to estimate the trends
with great certainty - the size unpaid instalment, the volume of demand for new products - that
determine the new 2020 targets. The amended Financing Plan was approved by the Shareholder
and the Minister of Finance at the end of May 2020. The involvement of sources specified in
the plan is ongoing - EIB loan drawdowns, use of MFB loans, opening of higher-level stand-
by credit facilities - some of them have already been completed, the other preparations for
further transactions are on schedule. The DHK has met all payment obligations in 2020 (among
the most significant are student loan disbursements, interest payments and the maturity
liabilities of DK2020/01 series bond) and they will continue to fulfil them in the future as well.
All these changes affected the Company's 2020 business numbers, certain KPIs, cash flows
and, through this, its external financing assets, which necessitated an amendment to the 2020
business plan. This was approved by the Board of Directors of the Company on 18 June 2020
and by the Shareholder on 2 July 2020. The Company will continue to operate in line with this
business plan for the year 2020.

4. Modelling and estimating expected effects on the factors influencing the quality of loan
portfolios

Changes are expected to affect the quality of the Company's loan portfolios. Models, which are

used for the estimation of risks in relation to existing products, were reviewed by an actuarial
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expert and the Company prepared estimates as a result of credit moratorium and other effects
of the economic downturn.
Factors affected, associated expectations and areas that require further examination are the
following ones:

e repayment moratorium:

o direct impact on reserves for 2020: the Company plans to address the impact
of repayment (decrease in expected payments) moratorium in the model;

o direct effect on risk premium: based on the currently available data — due to
termination of arrears - the model could only take into account the positive
effects of repayment moratorium, while negative effects would occur after
the moratorium, so based on precautionary principle the Company does not
take the premium reduction factor into account;

o indirect effect (on changes in assumptions): transition probabilities; the
Company expects a long-term negative effect on repayment morale.

e income trends, especially the trends of inactive groups, prepayment:

o salaries should be updated;

o the Company plans to manage short-term and temporary increase in
unemployment rate at transition probabilities;

o we expect a decrease on prepayments (both in frequency and amount) as a result
of the moratorium and expected economic downturn, which should be addressed
at the development of the model

® economic assumptions:

o we identified the decline in real wage growth as the only factor that directly
affects the model, while in case if other relevant economic assumptions we plan
to use sensitivity tests;

o we update the economic assumptions that have an indirect effect (inflation,
operating costs);

o we expect the increase of funding costs and we will update the rate in accordance
with market expectations.

e collection of terminated contracts:

o during moratorium period no contract will be terminated: collections are treated
conservatively in the model (so the Company does not take into account returns
from previously terminated contracts during this period)

e demographic indicators (mortality):

o we monitor the development of demographic indicators. We do not expect
significant deterioration in mortality rate this year, but if we sec a significant
increase, we will update the mortality parameter table of the model accordingly.

S. The evaluation of Management on the impact of those events that occurred after the
balance sheet date in relation to the Company’s assets, income and financial position
and going concern principle

The credit moratorium, introduced due to the epidemic situation, provides effective help to the
debtors, it helps the stability of the student loan system. The new, temporarily introduced loan
product provides a quick solution to those who got into a difficult situation as a result of crisis
caused by COVID-19, while the expansion of credit services to adult education sector provides
expansion possibility to the Company and leads to a next stage to its operations. According to the
Management, the changes introduced after the balance sheet day are forward looking and do not
risk the liquidity position of Didkhitel K6zpont Zrt., furthermore due to them going concern
principle is reinforced.
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